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GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to

which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the

Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of

investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and

careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean

that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that

securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than

securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given

that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.
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The timetable set out below, which is principally extracted from the Offer Document, is indicative

only and any changes to the timetable will be announced by the Offeror. All time references contained in

this timetable are to Hong Kong time.

2009

Despatch date of the Offer Document

and the Offer opens for acceptances (Note 1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Tuesday, 1 September

Despatch date of this document . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Tuesday, 15 September

Latest time and date for acceptance of the Offer (Note 2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4:00 p.m. on

Tuesday, 29 September

Closing Date of the Offer (Note 2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Tuesday, 29 September

Announcement in respect of the result of the Offer,

or as to whether the Offer has been revised or extended,

published on the GEM website . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . not later than 7:00 p.m. on

Tuesday, 29 September

Latest date for posting of remittances to the Shareholders

in respect of valid acceptances received under the Offer (Note 3) . . . . . . . Friday, 9 October

Notes:

1. The Offer began on Tuesday, 1 September 2009, being the date of posting of the Offer Document, and is capable of

acceptance on and from that date until the Closing Date.

2. The latest time for acceptance of the Offer is 4:00 p.m. on Tuesday, 29 September 2009 and the Offer, which is

unconditional, will be closed on Tuesday, 29 September 2009 unless the Offeror revises or extends the Offer in

accordance with the Takeovers Code. The Offeror reserves its right to revise or extend the Offer until such date as

it may determine in accordance with the Takeovers Code (or as permitted by the Executive in accordance with the

Takeovers Code). The Offeror will issue an announcement in relation to the result of the Offer, or as to whether the

Offer has been revised or extended, by 7:00 p.m. on Tuesday, 29 September 2009 in accordance with the

requirements of Rule 19.1 of the Takeovers Code. In any event, where the Offer is extended, the announcement will

be made stating the next closing date or that the Offer will remain open for acceptance until fur ther notice, in which

case at least 14 days’ notice in writing will be given, before the Offer is closed, to those Shareholders who have not

accepted the Offer in accordance with the Takeovers Code.

3. Remittances in respect of the cash consideration for the Shares tendered under the Offer will be despatched to the

accepting holders of Offer Shares by ordinary post at their own risk as soon as possible, but in any event within 10

days from the date of receipt by the Registrar of the duly completed Form(s) of Acceptance and all relevant

documents to render the relevant acceptance under the Offer complete and valid.
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In this document, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions have the following

meanings:

“acting in concer t” has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Takeovers Code

“Agreement” the conditional sale and purchase agreement dated 5 August
2009 entered into among the Vendors and the Offeror in
relation to the sale and purchase of the Sale Shares

“Board” the board of Directors

“business day” a day (other than Saturday) on which banks in Hong Kong
are generally open for business

“Closing Date” 29 September 2009 or if the Offer is revised or extended,
the closing date of the Offer as revised or extended by the
Offeror in accordance with the Takeovers Code

“Company” Rojam Enter tainment Holdings Limited (stock code: 8075), a
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability, the issued Shares of which are listed on GEM

“Completion” completion of the sale and purchase of the Sale Shares in
accordance with the terms of the Agreement

“Directors” directors of the Company

“Executive” the Executive Director of the Corporate Finance Division of
the Securities and Futures Commission or any delegates of
the Executive Director

“Faith” Faith, Inc., a company incorporated in Japan

“First Announcement” the announcement dated 26 June 2009 made by the
Company pursuant to Rule 3.7 of the Takeovers Code

“First Shanghai” or
“Independent Financial Adviser”

First Shanghai Capital Limited, a corporation licensed to
carry out type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activity as defined under the SFO appointed as independent
financial adviser to the Independent Board Committee in
respect of the Offer

“Form(s) of Acceptance” the form(s) of acceptance and transfer of Shares in respect
of the Offer accompanying the Offer Document

“GEM” the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange

DEFINITIONS
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“GEM Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM

“Group” the Company and its subsidiaries

“HKSCC” Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited

“Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

“Independent Board Committee” the independent committee of the Board comprising Mr.
Seiichi Nakaoda, Mr. Kwong Pui Kei and Mr. Chan Hing
Keung, Wilson, being independent non-executive Directors
established to make a recommendation to the Independent
Shareholders (i) as to whether the Offer is, or is not, fair and
reasonable; and (ii) as to acceptance

“Independent Shareholders” Shareholders other than the Offeror and par ties acting in
concer t with it

“Joint Announcement” the announcement dated 11 August 2009 jointly issued by
the Offeror and the Company in relation to the Offer

“Latest Practicable Date” 11 September 2009, being the latest practicable date for the
purpose of ascer ta in ing cer ta in informat ion in th is
document

“Mr. Ting” Mr. Ting Pang Wan, Raymond, the sole beneficial owner of
Shanghai Assets (BVI) Limited which is in turn a 50%
shareholder of the Offeror

“Mr. Yam” Mr. Yam Tak Cheung, the sole beneficial owner of Integrated
Asset Management (Asia) Limited which is in turn a 50%
shareholder of the Offeror

“Offer” the mandatory unconditional cash offer being made by
Optima Capital on behalf of the Offeror for all the issued
Shares other than those already owned by or agreed to be
acquired by the Offeror and par ties acting in concer t with it
pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code

“Offer Document” the offer document dated 1 September 2009 issued by
Optima Capital on behalf of the Offeror to all Independent
Shareholders in accordance with the Takeovers Code,
containing, among other things, the terms of the Offer

“Offer Period” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Takeovers Code
and commencing from the date of the First Announcement
to the Closing Date

DEFINITIONS
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“Offer Price” the price at which the Offer is being made, i.e. at HK$0.028
per Offer Share

“Offer Share(s)” issued Shares but excluding the Sale Shares and any other
Shares owned or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and
persons acting in concer t with it

“Offeror” Marvel Bonus Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands with limited liability which is
beneficially and indirectly owned in equal share by Mr. Yam
and Mr. Ting and the purchaser of the Sale Shares under the
Agreement

“Optima Capital” Optima Capital Limited, a corporation licensed under the
SFO permitted to engage in type 1 (dealings in securities),
type 4 (advising on securities) and type 6 (advising on
corporate finance) regulated activities, and the financial
adviser to the Offeror in relation to the Offer

“PRC” the People’s Republic of China but excluding, for the
purpose of this document, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

“Registrar” Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the
branch share registrar of the Company and the receiving
agent for receiving and processing the acceptances of the
Offer

“Relevant Period” the period from 26 December 2008, being the date falling
on six months before the date of the First Announcement,
up to and including the Latest Practicable Date

“Sale Shares” a total of 1,232,490,000 Shares acquired by the Offeror
from the Vendors pursuant to the terms and conditions of
the Agreement

“SFO” Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)

“Share(s)” ordinary share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the issued share capital
of the Company

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of the Share(s)

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“Takeovers Code” the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers

DEFINITIONS
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“Vendors” together, Yoshimoto and Faith

“Yoshimoto” Yoshimoto Fandango Co., Ltd., a company incorporated in Japan

“HK$” Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“JPY” Japanese Yen, the lawful currency of Japan

“RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

“%” per cent.

DEFINITIONS
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15 September 2009

To the Independent Shareholders

Dear Sir/Madam,

MANDATORY UNCONDITIONAL CASH OFFER BY
OPTIMA CAPITAL LIMITED

ON BEHALF OF
MARVEL BONUS HOLDINGS LIMITED

FOR ALL THE ISSUED SHARES IN
ROJAM ENTERTAINMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

(OTHER THAN THOSE ALREADY OWNED
OR AGREED TO BE ACQUIRED BY

MARVEL BONUS HOLDINGS LIMITED
AND PARTIES ACTING IN CONCERT WITH IT)

INTRODUCTION

On 11 August 2009, the Offeror and the Company jointly announced that pursuant to the
Agreement dated 5 August 2009 entered into among the Offeror and the Vendors, the Vendors
agreed to sell and the Offeror agreed to acquire 1,232,490,000 Shares in aggregate, representing
approximately 63.99% of the issued share capital of the Company. The total consideration for the
Sale Shares is HK$34,509,720, which was agreed among the Offeror and the Vendors after arm’s
length negotiations and represents HK$0.028 per Share. The total consideration was paid by the
Offeror in full in cash at Completion which took place on 21 August 2009.

LETTER FROM THE BOARD
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Prior to Completion, neither the Offeror nor any of the par ties acting in concer t with it had

any interests in the share capital or voting rights of the Company. As a result of the acquisition of the

Sale Shares and upon Completion, the Offeror and par ties acting in concer t with it have become

interested in a total of 1,232,490,000 Shares, representing approximately 63.99% of the issued share

capital of the Company. Pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code, the Offeror is required to

make a mandatory unconditional general offer in cash for all the issued Shares other than those

already owned or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and par ties acting in concer t with it.

An independent committee of the Board comprising Mr. Seiichi Nakaoda, Mr. Kwong Pui Kei

and Mr. Chan Hing Keung, Wilson, being independent non-executive Directors, was established to

make recommendation to the Independent Shareholders as to whether the Offer is, or is not, fair and

reasonable and as to acceptance. Mr. Zhang Xi was nominated by the Offeror to the Board as an

independent non-executive Director with effect from 1 September 2009 after despatch of the Offer

Document. The Board, after taking into consideration, that the appointment of Mr. Zhang Xi was

nominated by the Offeror and his appointment has only been effective shor tly before the despatch

of this document, did not include Mr. Zhang Xi into the established Independent Board Committee.

This letter sets out, among other things, information on the Offer and the Offeror and the

intention of the Offeror regarding the Group. Fur ther details of the terms of the Offer are set out in

Appendix I to the Offer Document and in the Form of Acceptance.

The purpose of this document is to provide you with, among other things, information relating

to the Group, the recommendation of the Independent Board Committee to the Independent

Shareholders regarding the Offer, and the advice of Independent Financial Adviser to the

Independent Board Committee on the Offer.

THE OFFER

Principal terms of the Offer

Optima Capital, the financial adviser to the Offeror, is making the Offer, which is unconditional

in all respects, on behalf of the Offeror in compliance with the Takeovers Code on the following

terms:–

For every Offer Share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .HK$0.028 in cash

The Offer Shares to be acquired under the Offer shall be fully paid and free from all liens,

charges, encumbrances, rights of pre-emption and any other third par ty rights of any nature together

with all rights attaching thereto as at the date of the Joint Announcement including all dividends and

distributions declared, made or paid on or after the date of the Joint Announcement.

Fur ther information and terms and conditions of the Offer including, among other things,

procedures for acceptance and settlement, the acceptance period and taxation matters are set out in

the letter from Optima Capital on pages 5 to 12 of the Offer Document, Appendix I to the Offer

Document, and the Form of Acceptance.

LETTER FROM THE BOARD
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SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY

Set out below is a table showing the shareholding structure of the Company (i) immediately

before Completion; and (ii) immediately after Completion and as at the Latest Practicable Date:

Immediately before
Completion

Immediately after
Completion and as at

the Latest Practicable Date
Number of

Shares
Approximate

%
Number of

Shares
Approximate

%

The Offeror and par ties acting
in concer t with it – – 1,232,490,000 63.99

Mr. Takeyasu Hashizume (Note 1) 6,658,000 0.35 6,658,000 0.35
Yoshimoto (Note 2) 866,522,167 44.99 96,306,167 5.00
Faith (Note 2) 558,574,000 29.00 96,300,000 5.00
Other public Shareholders 494,360,236 25.66 494,360,236 25.66

Total public Shareholders 494,360,236 25.66 686,966,403 35.66

Total 1,926,114,403 100.00 1,926,114,403 100.00

Notes:

1. Mr. Takeyasu Hashizume is an executive Director as at the Latest Practicable Date.

2. Each of the Vendors remains interested in approximately 5.0% of the issued share capital of the Company

immediately after Completion and as at the Latest Practicable Date. They are treated as public Shareholders

as their respective shareholdings in the Company is below 10% and they are not connected persons of the

Company within the meanings of the GEM Listing Rules.

INFORMATION ON THE GROUP

The Company is an investment holding company with its subsidiaries principally engaged in the

development and licensing of software and technology for use in connection with the provision of

value-added telecommunication services in the PRC.

The Group recorded audited losses attributable to equity holders of the Company of

approximately HK$63.2 million and approximately HK$47.8 million for the two financial years ended

31 March 2008 and 2009 respectively. The audited consolidated total equity attributable to equity

holders of the Company as at 31 March 2009 was approximately HK$32.3 million.

INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR

Your attention is drawn to the paragraph headed “INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR” in the

letter from Optima Capital set out on pages 5 to 12 of the Offer Document for information on the

Offeror.
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OFFEROR’S INTENTION ON THE GROUP

Your attention is drawn to the paragraph headed “OFFEROR’S INTENTION ON THE

GROUP” in the letter from Optima Capital set out on pages 5 to 12 of the Offer Document for

information on the Offeror’s intention on the Group.

As disclosed in the paragraph headed “PROPOSED CHANGE OF BOARD COMPOSITION”

in the letter from Optima Capital set out in the Offer Document, cer tain directors of the Group will

resign as directors of the relevant members of the Group with effect from the earliest time

permitted under the Takeovers Code. The Offeror nominated two new executive Directors, being

Mr. Chan Chi Ming, Alvin and Mr. Luk Hong Man, Hammond, and one new independent non-executive

Director, being Mr. Zhang Xi to the Board with effect from 1 September 2009, after the despatch of

the Offer Document.

Biographical details of Mr. Chan Chi Ming, Alvin, Mr. Luk Hong Man, Hammond and Mr. Zhang

Xi are set out in the joint announcement dated 31 August 2009 issued by the Offeror and the

Company in respect of the despatch of the Offer Document and the appointment of Directors.

Announcements will be made by the Company in respect of any fur ther changes to the Board

pursuant to Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules as and when appropriate.

Save as disclosed in the paragraph “PROPOSED CHANGE OF BOARD COMPOSITION” in

the letter from Optima Capital set out in the Offer Document, the Offeror has not informed the

Company of any intention to effect any material changes to the existing management and employees

of the Group following the close of the Offer.

MAINTAINING THE LISTING STATUS OF THE COMPANY

The Offeror intends to maintain the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange after the close

of the Offer. The new Directors nominated by the Offeror and appointed to the Board at the earliest

time permitted by the Takeovers Code and the directors of the Offeror will jointly and severally

under take to the Stock Exchange to take appropriate steps following the close of the Offer to ensure

that such number of Shares as may be required by the Stock Exchange are held by the public.

The Stock Exchange has stated that if, upon the close of the Offer, less than the

minimum prescribed percentage applicable to the Company, being 25%, of the issued

Shares are held by the public or if the Stock Exchange believes that (i) a false market

exists or may exist in the trading of the Shares; or (ii) there are insufficient Shares in

public hands to maintain an orderly market, then it will consider exercising its

discretion to suspend trading in the Shares.
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RECOMMENDATION

Your attention is drawn to the letter from the Independent Board Committee set out on page

10 of this document which contains its recommendation to the Independent Shareholders in respect

of the Offer and the letter of advice from Independent Financial Adviser set out on pages 11 to 27

of this document which contains its advice to the Independent Board Committee in relation to the

Offer and the pr incipal factor s and reasons taken into consideration in arr iving at its

recommendation.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Your attention is drawn to the letter from Optima Capital as set out on 5 to 12 of the Offer

Document, Appendix I to the Offer Document and the Form of Acceptance which contain details of

the Offer.

Your attention is also drawn to the additional information set out in the appendices to this

document.

Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of the Board

Rojam Entertainment Holdings Limited
Etsuko Hoshiyama

Executive Director and Company Secretar y
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Stock code: 8075
Website: www.rojam.com

15 September 2009

To the Independent Shareholders

Dear Sir or Madam,

MANDATORY UNCONDITIONAL CASH OFFER BY
OPTIMA CAPITAL LIMITED

ON BEHALF OF
MARVEL BONUS HOLDINGS LIMITED

FOR ALL THE ISSUED SHARES IN
ROJAM ENTERTAINMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

(OTHER THAN THOSE ALREADY OWNED
OR AGREED TO BE ACQUIRED BY

MARVEL BONUS HOLDINGS LIMITED
AND PARTIES ACTING IN CONCERT WITH IT)

We refer to the response document dated 15 September 2009 issued by the Company (the
“Response Document”), of which this letter forms par t. Terms used in this letter shall have the same
meanings as those defined in the Response Document unless the context requires otherwise.

We, being the independent non-executive Directors, have been appointed by the Board to
form the Independent Board Committee to consider the terms of the Offer and to advise you as to
whether, in our opinion, the terms of the Offer are fair and reasonable so far as your interests are
concerned, and to make a recommendation as to acceptance of the Offer. The Independent Financial
Adviser has been appointed to advise us in this respect. Details of its advice and the principal factors
taken into consideration in arriving at its recommendation are set out in the letter from the
Independent Financial Adviser on pages 11 to 27 of the Response Document.

We also wish to draw your attention to the letter from the Board and the additional
information set out in the appendices to the Response Document.

We have relied upon the advice of the Independent Financial Adviser and we consider that the
terms of the Offer (including the Offer Price) are fair and reasonable so far as the interests of the
Independent Shareholders are concerned and recommend the Independent Shareholders to accept
the Offer.

However, Independent Shareholders should pay particular attention that the
closing price of the Shares has been significantly above the Offer Price during the
period commencing on 12 August 2009 (i.e. when the Shares resumed trading on the
Stock Exchange) up to and including the Latest Practicable Date. Independent
Shareholders who wish to dispose of their Shares should carefully and closely monitor
the market price of the Shares and sell their Shares in the stock market rather than
accepting the Offer if the net proceeds from a sale of their Shares in the stock market
would, after deducting all transaction costs, yield a higher consideration than the net
amount to be received under the Offer. However, should the market price of the
Shares substantially fall below the close of the Offer such that Independent
Shareholders could receive a higher net amount by accepting the Offer than by selling
their Shares in the stock market, Independent Shareholders who wish to dispose of
their Shares should (if such circumstances arise) accept the Offer.

Yours faithfully,
The Independent Board Committee

Seiichi Nakaoda Kwong Pui Kei Chan Hing Keung, Wilson
Independent non-executive Directors

LETTER FROM THE INDEPENDENT BOARD COMMITTEE
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The following is the text of a letter of advice to the Independent Board Committee from the
Independent Financial Adviser in respect of the Offer prepared for the purpose of incorporation into the
Response Document.

FIRST SHANGHAI CAPITAL LIMITED
19th Floor, Wing On House
71 Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong

15 September 2009

To the Independent Board Committee
Rojam Enter tainment Holdings Limited
Unit 501
5th Floor, Lucky Building
39 Wellington Street
Central
Hong Kong

Dear Sir or Madam,

MANDATORY UNCONDITIONAL CASH OFFER BY
OPTIMA CAPITAL LIMITED

ON BEHALF OF
MARVEL BONUS HOLDINGS LIMITED

FOR ALL THE ISSUED SHARES IN
ROJAM ENTERTAINMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

(OTHER THAN THOSE ALREADY OWNED
OR AGREED TO BE ACQUIRED BY

MARVEL BONUS HOLDINGS LIMITED
AND PARTIES ACTING IN CONCERT WITH IT)

INTRODUCTION

We refer to our engagement as the independent financial adviser to advise the Independent
Board Committee in respect of the Offer, details of which are set out in the offer document (the
“Offer Document”) issued by the Offeror dated 1 September 2009 and the response document
(the “Response Document”) to the Shareholders dated 15 September 2009, of which this letter
forms par t. Unless the context otherwise requires, terms used in this letter shall have the same
meanings as those defined in the Offer Document and the Response Document.

On 5 August 2009, the Offeror entered into the Agreement with the Vendors, pursuant to
which the Offeror agreed to acquire from the Vendors the Sale Shares (i.e. 1,232,490,000 Shares in
aggregate) at an aggregate cash consideration of HK$34,509,720. Completion of the Agreement took
place on 21 August 2009. Upon the Completion, the Offeror and par ties acting in concer t with it
became interested in a total of 1,232,490,000 Shares, representing approximately 63.99% of the
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entire issued share capital of the Company. Pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code, the Offeror
is obliged to make the Offer to acquire all the issued Shares (other than those already owned or
agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and par ties acting in concer t with it).

The Offer will be made solely in cash.

The Board currently comprises eight executive Directors and four independent non-executive
Directors. An Independent Board Committee compr ising three of the four independent
non-executive Directors who have no direct or indirect interest in the Offer, namely Mr. Seiichi
Nakaoda, Mr. Kwong Pui Kei and Mr. Chan Hing Keung, Wilson, has been established to advise the
Independent Shareholders on the Offer. We have been appointed to advise the Independent Board
Committee in connection with the Offer and in par ticular as to whether the terms of the Offer are
fair and reasonable and to give an opinion and recommendation as regards the acceptance of the
Offer.

During the past two years prior to our engagement to act as the independent financial adviser
to the Company, First Shanghai had entered into two separate financial advisory engagements to act
as the independent financial adviser of China Motion Telecom International Limited (Stock Code:
989) (“China Motion”), a non-wholly owned subsidiar y of the Offeror and a company
incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability whose issued shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, details of which are set out below:

• In October 2007, First Shanghai was appointed by China Motion as an independent
financial adviser in relation to a proposed very substantial acquisition and connected
transaction entered into between China Motion and Asia Castle Development Limited,
but which was subsequently agreed by both par ties to be terminated on 4 December
2007. However, First Shanghai had substantially completed its drafting work for the
related independent letter of advice and, therefore, still received from China Motion a
financial advisory fee of HK$220,000, which accounted for approximately 0.029% of the
consolidated revenue of First Shanghai Investments Limited (Stock Code: 227) and its
subsidiaries (including First Shanghai) (collectively “First Shanghai Group”) for the
financial year (“FY”) ended 31 December 2007 based on its 2007 annual repor t.

• In February 2008, First Shanghai was fur ther appointed by China Motion as an
independent financial adviser in relation to its proposed refreshment of general
mandate to issue and allot shares, the related circular dated 12 March 2008 was
subsequently despatched to its shareholders. First Shanghai received a financial advisory
fee of HK$30,000, which accounted for approximately 0.015% of the consolidated
revenue of First Shanghai Group for the FY ended 31 December 2008 based on its
2008 annual repor t.

Save as disclosed above, we are not associated with the Offeror or the Company or their
respective substantial shareholders or any par ty acting, or presumed to be acting, in concer t with any
of them, and accordingly is considered eligible to give independent advice on the Offer. Apar t from
normal professional fees payable to us in connection with this appointment, no arrangement exists
whereby we will receive any fees or benefits from the Offeror or the Company or their respective
substantial shareholders or any par ty acting, or presumed to be acting, in concer t with any of them.
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BASIS OF OUR OPINION

In formulating our opinion and advice, we have relied on the information and facts supplied,

and the opinions expressed, by the Directors, which we have assumed to be true, accurate and

complete. We have also sought and received confirmation from the Directors that no material facts

have been omitted from the information supplied and that the information which we have received

is sufficient to enable us to reach our opinion and give the advice set out in this letter. We have no

reason to doubt the truth and accuracy of the information provided to us or to believe that any

material facts have been omitted or withheld. We have also assumed that all representations

contained or referred to in the Response Document were true at the date of the Response

Document and will continue to be true during the period the Offer remain open for acceptance.

However, we have not conducted any independent investigation into the businesses and affairs of the

Group.

We have not considered the tax implications on the Independent Shareholders of acceptance

of the Offer since these depend on their individual circumstances. In par ticular, the Independent

Shareholders who are overseas residents or subject to overseas taxes or Hong Kong taxation on

securities dealings should consider their own tax position and, if in any doubt, should consult their

own professional advisers.

PRINCIPAL TERMS OF THE OFFER

The terms of the Offer set out below are summarized from the “Letter from Optima Capital”

contained in the Offer Document. Independent Shareholders are encouraged to read the relevant

section(s) in the Offer Document and the Response Document in full.

The Offer

The Offer is being made for all the Shares which are not already owned by the Offeror

and par ties acting in concer t with it on the following basis:

For every Offer Share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . HK$0.028 in cash

The Offer Shares to be acquired under the Offer shall be fully paid and free from all

liens, charges, encumbrances, rights of pre-emption and any other third par ty rights of any

nature together with all rights attaching thereto as at the date of the Joint Announcement

including all dividends and distributions declared, made or paid on or after the date of the Joint

Announcement.

Acceptance of the Offer shall be unconditional and irrevocable and shall not be capable

of being withdrawn, except as permitted under the Takeovers Code.
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PRINCIPAL FACTORS AND REASONS CONSIDERED

In formulating our opinion with regard to the Offer, we have taken into consideration the
following principal factors and reasons:

Past results of the Group

The Group is principally engaged in the development and licensing of software and
technology for use in connection with the provision of value-added telecommunication
services in the PRC. The following table summarized the consolidated results of the Group for
each of the three FYs ended 31 March 2009 and the three months ended 30 June 2008 and
2009, details of which are set out in Appendix I to the Response Document.

For the FY ended 31 March
For the three months

ended 30 June
2007 2008 2009 2008 2009

(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited) (unaudited)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations
Turnover 11,860 1,667 2,706 925 781
Cost of sales and services rendered (12,925) (407) (1,365) (303) (350)

Gross (loss)/profit (1,065) 1,260 1,341 622 431

Other income 3,201 5,769 929 196 133
Selling expenses – (226) (282) – –
Administrative expenses (13,581) (12,564) (9,328) (2,760) (3,153)
Other operating expenses – (2,147) (33,367) – –

Loss before tax (11,445) (7,908) (40,707) (1,942) (2,589)

Income tax (expenses)/credit (14) 154 1,155 – –

Loss for the year/period from
continuing operations (11,459) (7,754) (39,552) (1,942) (2,589)

Discontinued operations

Loss for the year/period from
discontinued operations (56,790) (55,451) (8,270) (2,433) –

Loss for the year/period (68,249) (63,205) (47,822) (4,375) (2,589)

Loss attributable to equity
holders of the Company (68,249) (63,205) (47,822) (4,375) (2,589)
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For the FY ended 31 March
For the three months

ended 30 June
2007 2008 2009 2008 2009

(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited) (unaudited)

Basic loss per share

Loss from continuing and
discontinued operations (HK cent) 3.6 3.3 2.5 0.23 0.13

Loss from continuing operations
(HK cent) 0.6 0.4 2.1 0.10 0.13

Diluted (HK cent) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

FY ended 31 March 2008 compared to 2007

The Group had recorded turnover of approximately HK$1.7 mil l ion,
representing a significant decrease of approximately 85.9% from that from the
continuing operations of approximately HK$11.9 million in the previous FY as a result
of the cessation of operations of Rojam Disco in Shanghai in December 2007. The
Group recorded net loss attributable to equity holders for the FY ended 31 March
2008 of approximately HK$63.2 million when compared to that of approximately
HK$68.2 million in the previous FY. The Group continued to adjust its business
structure in the FY ended 31 March 2008. The Group re-evaluated its business strategy
in light of trends and developments in the distribution business in Asia. Following the
cessation of operations of Rojam Disco in Shanghai in December 2007, the Group has
been principally focused on digital distribution business through AnyMusic Limited and
its newly set-up Taiwan branch, which prepared it to pursue in better development
oppor tunities for future expansion. The acquisition of the entire equity interests in
AnyMusic Limited was completed on 31 October 2007, which is principally engaged in
the development and licensing of software and technology for use in connection with
the provision of value-added telecommunication services such as the distribution of
digital content to mobile phone users.

FY ended 31 March 2009 compared to 2008

The Group had recorded turnover of approximately HK$2.7 million in the FY
ended 31 March 2009, representing a significant increase of approximately 62.3% from
that of approximately HK$1.7 million in the previous FY. Loss attributable to equity
holders of the Company was approximately HK$47.8 million for the FY ended 31
March 2009 when compared to that of approximately HK$63.2 million for the previous
FY, representing a decrease of approximately 24.4% between the two FYs. During the
FY ended 31 March 2009, the Group has undergone corporate restructuring including,
the closure of the loss-making discotheque operation in China and the application for
the dissolution of Shanghai Rojam Enter tainment Company Limited, an indirect
subsidiary of the Company, so as to free up its resources and management time to focus
on exploring other business oppor tunities in digital distribution business in Asian
countries other than its existing business in China and Taiwan, but which has not yet
been commenced as at the Latest Practicable Date.
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Three months ended 30 June 2009

The Group’s turnover decreased by approximately 15.6% to approximately

HK$781,000 for the three months ended 30 June 2009 from that of approximately

HK$925,000 for the three months ended 30 June 2008. Loss attributable to the equity

holders of the Company for the three months ended 30 June 2009 decreased to

approximately HK$2.6 million from that of approximately HK$4.4 million for the

corresponding three months ended 30 June 2008 mainly because the Group’s

loss-making discotheque operation in China had already been closed and discontinued.

Based on our review on the financial information of the Group, we note that (i)

the Group’s scale of business operations had been substantially contracted with very

minimal turnover of approximately HK$1.7 million and HK$2.7 million for the two FYs

ended 31 March 2009 when compared to that of approximately HK$535.7 million and

HK$505.4 million during the two FYs ended 31 March 2006; (ii) the Group had negative

segment results for its sole remaining business operation, namely licensing of software,

of approximately HK$2.3 million and HK$34.5 million for the two FYs ended 31 March

2009; (iii) the Company had not been paying dividend to the Shareholders since the

payment of final dividend for the FY ended 31 March 2005, other than the special

dividend of HK$0.118 per Share paid out of its share premium account in May 2007 as

a consequence of the excessive cash resources received from the disposal of its core

record production and distribution business in the FY ended 31 March 2007; and (iv) it

is very unlikely that any dividend will be distributed in the near future because the

Company has substantial accumulated losses of approximately HK$165.1 million up to

31 March 2009, and hence no distributable reserve was available for dividend payment

as at 31 March 2009.
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Financial position of the Group

The following table summarizes the consolidated balance sheets of the Group as at 31
March 2008 and 2009, which are set out in full in Appendix I to the Response Document:

As at 31 March
2008 2009

(audited) (audited)
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Proper ty, plant and equipment 500 235
Goodwill 17,571 –
Other intangible assets 16,359 9,531

34,430 9,766

Current assets
Inventories 17 –
Trade receivables 5,308 253
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 9,154 6,079
Bank and cash balances 44,147 22,194

58,626 28,526

Current liabilities
Trade payables 231 7
Accruals and other payables 11,178 4,459

11,409 4,466

Net current assets 47,217 24,060

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 1,969 857

NET ASSETS 79,678 32,969

Capital and reserves
Share capital 192,611 192,611
Reserves (113,608) (160,317)

Equity attributable to equity holders
of the Company 79,003 32,294

Minority interests 675 675

TOTAL EQUITY 79,678 32,969
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As at 31 March 2009, net assets of the Group was approximately HK$33.0 million, a
decrease of approximately 58.6% from that of approximately HK$79.7 million as at 31 March
2008, which was mainly due to the impairment of goodwill, other intangible assets and trade
and other receivables as well as decrease in bank and cash balances as a result of the then
market downturn and the deterioration of the operating environment. The Group’s losses
attributable to equity holders of the Company amounted to approximately HK$68.2 million,
HK$63.2 million and HK$47.8 million for each of the three FYs ended 31 March 2009
respectively mainly due to the substantial contraction of business operation following the
disposal of its core record production and distribution business and closure of Rojam Disco
during the years, while the Group had net assets of approximately HK$33.0 million as at 31
March 2009. If the Group’s loss-making situation cannot be turned around shor tly, it might go
into a position of net deficiency in assets.

As at 31 March 2009, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$38.3 million, a
significant decrease of approximately 58.9% from that of approximately HK$93.1 million as at
31 March 2008. Among the total assets as at 31 March 2009, bank and cash balances
amounted to approximately HK$22.2 mil l ion; other intangible assets amounted to
approximately HK$9.5 million; and prepayments, deposits and other receivables amounted to
approximately HK$6.1 million, representing approximately 58.0%, 24.8% and 15.9% of the
Group’s total assets respectively.

As at 31 March 2009, the Group had total liabilities of approximately HK$5.3 million, a
decrease of approximately 60.4% from that of approximately HK$13.4 million as at 31 March
2008. Among the total liabilities as at 31 March 2009, accruals, trade and other payables
amounted to approximately HK$4.5 million; and deferred tax liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$0.8 million, representing approximately 84.9% and 15.1% of the Group’s
total liabilities respectively.

Based on the balances as at 31 March 2008 and 2009, the Group’s current ratio
increased slightly from approximately 5.1 times as at 31 March 2008 to approximately 6.4
times as at 31 March 2009; while the Group had no gearing (total interest-bearing borrowings
to be divided by net assets) as at 31 March 2008 and 2009.

As stated in the Group’s first quar terly repor t for the three months ended 30 June
2009, the Group had a cash balance of approximately HK$19 million as at 30 June 2009,
representing a decrease of approximately 14% from that of approximately HK$22 million as at
31 March 2009. The Group has no long-term borrowings during the three months ended 30
June 2009 and the gearing ratio is zero, the same as that for the past two years.

Based on the above financial performance and position, we noted that the Group had
been experiencing a substantial contraction of its scale of business operations and incurring
substantial net losses over the past three FYs ended 31 March 2009 and the three months
ended 30 June 2009. Also, we noted that the Group (i) has a lack of sufficient scale of business
operations with negative segment results for its sole remaining business operation; and (ii) had
recorded net operating cash outflow of approximately HK$32.3 million and HK$22.9 million
for each of the two FYs ended 31 March 2009 based on its annual repor t for the FY ended 31
March 2009 following the disposal of its core record production and distribution business
producing musical and comedian CDs and DVDs in their physical forms to Yoshimoto in the
FY ended 31 March 2007, which is different from its current and future distribution business in
digital form. If the situation cannot be turned around in the near future, the Group’s financial
position may fur ther deteriorate.
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Future prospects of the Group

As discussed above and in the annual repor t of the Group for the FY ended 31 March

2009 and its first quar terly repor t for the three months ended 30 June 2009, the recent

business development of the Group had been substantially contracted in the market. With the

downturn of the global economy and the deterioration of the operating environment, it is

expected that the Group’s business will inevitably be affected. To cope with the current

difficulties and challenges, the Group continues its consistent strategy to keep tight cost

control and broaden its revenue, so as to increase its ability to endure risks. While stabilizing

its existing operations, the Group will speed up its business transformation and actively pursue

business oppor tunities that will allow it to expand its enter tainment and digital distribution

business in Asia. The Group will actively pursue new business potential arising from the

upcoming 3G market in China. The Group will also fur ther strengthen its digital content

business by sourcing more domestic and international content that are well suited to the

Chinese customers’ demands, so as to capture more business oppor tunities as they quickly

emerge in the PRC market.

However, we noted that the Group had been loss-making since the FY ended 31 March

2007. As mentioned in the section headed “Past results of the Group” above, the results of the

Group during the three FYs ended 31 March 2009 and the three months ended 30 June 2009

had basically been contracting and incurring substantial net losses pending subsequent

business transformation and corporate restructuring when business oppor tunities arise.

Together with the recent financial turmoil and the sub-prime mor tgage crisis, we concur with

the Directors’ view that the enter tainment and digital distribution market will continue to be

competitive in the coming years. Accordingly, we are of the view that in the absence of any

dramatic change, it is uncer tain as to whether the profitability of the Group would be

improved after the close of the Offer.

Background of the Offeror and its intention regarding the future of the Group

(i) Background of the Offeror

As stated in the “Letter from Optima Capital” contained in the Offer Document, the

Offeror is an investment holding company which is owned as to 50% each by Integrated Asset

Management (Asia) Limited and Shanghai Assets (BVI) Limited. Mr. Yam is the sole director

and sole beneficial owner of Integrated Asset Management (Asia) Limited and has over 15

years of experience in the management and operation of a private textile and knitting

company of which he is a controlling shareholder. Mr. Ting is the sole director and sole

beneficial owner of Shanghai Assets (BVI) Limited and has over 14 years of experience in

proper ty development and investments in the PRC. Both Mr. Ting and Mr. Yam are directors of

the Offeror. The principal asset held by the Offeror includes its 55.1% shareholding in China

Motion.

Independent Shareholders may refer to the “Letter from Optima Capital” contained in

the Offer Document for fur ther information about the Offeror.
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(ii) Business and operations of the Group

As stated in the “Letter from Optima Capital” contained in the Offer Document,
following the close of the Offer, the Offeror intends that the Group will continue its existing
principal activities. The Offeror does not intend to introduce any major changes to the existing
operation and business of the Company or redeploy the employees (other than those newly
appointed personnel) or the fixed assets of the Group immediately after the close of the
Offer. The Offeror will conduct a more detailed review on the operations of the Group with
a view to developing a comprehensive corporate strategy to broaden the income stream of
the Group. In the long-term spectrum, by leveraging on the business network and
management exper tise of the two new executive Directors appointed on 1 September 2009,
the Offeror will explore other business oppor tunities and consider whether any assets and/or
business acquisitions by the Group will be appropriate in order to enhance its growth. In the
event that any of such oppor tunities materialises, fur ther announcement will be made by the
Company as and when required by the GEM Listing Rules. As at the Latest Practicable Date,
the Offeror has no intention or concrete plan for any acquisition or disposal of assets and/or
business by the Group.

(iii) Management of the Group

The Board was originally comprised of six executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors prior to 1 September 2009. As stated in the “Letter from Optima
Capital” contained in the Offer Document, cer tain directors of the Group will resign as
directors of the relevant members of the Group with effect from the earliest time permitted
under the Takeovers Code. The Offeror has nominated two new executive Directors, being
Mr. Chan Chi Ming, Alvin and Mr. Luk Hong Man, Hammond, and one new independent
non-executive Director, being Mr. Zhang Xi, to the Board with effect from 1 September 2009
after the despatch of the Offer Document. Mr. Chan has about 10 years’ regional asset
management experience with management positions; while Mr. Luk has over 7 years of
experience in the accounting and compliance sectors. In addition, Mr. Zhang has over 9 years
of experience in the financial sector and is currently an independent non-executive director of
another listed company of the Stock Exchange. Given their past experience, we consider that
the three new Directors are qualified to handle the business and affairs of the Group after the
close of the Offer.

(iv) Compulsor y acquisition

The Offeror does not intend to avail any powers of compulsory acquisition of any
Shares after the close of the Offer.

(v) Maintenance of the listing status of the Company

As stated in the “Letter from Optima Capital” contained in the Offer Document, the
Offeror intends to maintain the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange after the close of
the Offer. The new Directors nominated by the Offeror and appointed to the Board and the
directors of the Offeror will jointly and severally under take to the Stock Exchange to take
appropriate steps following the close of the Offer to ensure that such number of Shares as
may be required by the Stock Exchange are held by the public.
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The Stock Exchange has stated that if, upon the close of the Offer, less than the
minimum prescribed percentage applicable to the Company, being 25%, of the issued Shares
are held by the public or if the Stock Exchange believes that (i) a false market exists or may
exist in the trading of the Shares; or (ii) there are insufficient Shares in public hands to maintain
an orderly market, then it will consider exercising its discretion to suspend trading in the
Shares.

The Offer Price

Basis of determining the Offer Price

The Offer Price of HK$0.028 per Offer Share is equivalent to the aggregate
consideration paid by the Offeror under the Agreement for the Sale Shares (being
HK$34,509,720) divided by the total number of Sale Shares (being 1,232,490,000 Shares). The
Offer Price represents:

Price/value
per Share

approximately

Premium/
(discount)

approximately
HK$ %

(i) Closing price as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on 5 August 2009, being
the last trading day (the “Last Trading
Day”) immediately before the date of
the Joint Announcement 0.1300 (78.5)

(ii) Average of the closing prices of
the Shares as quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the 5 trading days up to
and including the Last Trading Day 0.1356 (79.4)

(iii) Average of the closing prices of
the Shares as quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the 10 trading days up to
and including the Last Trading Day 0.1286 (78.2)

(iv) Average of the closing price of
the Shares as quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the 30 trading days up to
and including the Last Trading Day 0.1249 (77.6)

(v) Average of the closing price of
the Shares as quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the past six months up to
and including the Last Trading Day 0.0835 (66.5)

(vi) Closing price as quoted on the Stock
Exchange as at the Latest Practicable
Date 0.1350 (79.3)

(vii) Audited consolidated total equity
attributable to Shareholders per Share
as at 31 March 2009 0.0170 64.7
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Fur ther terms and conditions of the Offer, including the procedures for acceptance, are
set out in the “Letter from Optima Capital” in and Appendix I to the Offer Document.

Historical price performance of the Offer Shares

The monthly highest and lowest closing prices and the monthly average daily closing
price of the Shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange during the period commencing from 1
August 2008 up to and including the Last Trading Day (the “Review Period”) are shown as
follows:

Highest
closing

price

Lowest
closing

price

Average
daily closing

price

Number of
trading days

in each
month

HK$ HK$ HK$

2008
August 0.058 0.050 0.052 19
September 0.070 0.041 0.051 21
October 0.040 0.022 0.031 21
November 0.027 0.021 0.024 20
December 0.030 0.021 0.026 21

2009
January 0.030 0.025 0.028 18
February 0.040 0.030 0.037 20
March 0.039 0.030 0.037 22
April 0.089 0.035 0.060 20
May (Note 1) 0.160 0.070 0.089 18
June 0.159 0.114 0.135 22
July 0.145 0.111 0.122 22
August (up to 5

August 2009)
(Note 2) 0.140 0.130 0.133 3

Notes:

1. Trading in Shares was suspended on 22 May 2009

2. Trading in Shares was suspended on 6 August 2009 up to 11 August 2009

Source: Bloomberg

During the Review Period, the average daily closing price of the Shares ranged from
HK$0.024 to HK$0.135 per Share in each month and followed a general upward moving trend
since November 2008 until June 2009, but slightly decreased afterwards. We noted that the
Share price had generally increased from the daily lowest of HK$0.017 on 9 December 2008
to the daily highest of HK$0.250 and closing highest of HK$0.160 during the period from 9
December 2008 to 25 May 2009, being the trading day immediately after the Company’s
resumption of trading in the Shares with an announcement that the Company was informed

LETTER FROM THE INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER

– 22 –



by the Vendors that preliminary discussions have been made between an independent third

par ty and the Vendors in respect of a possible acquisition of the Shares held them, which may

result in a change of control of the Company, and may give rise to an obligation for that

independent third par ty to make a general offer for all the Shares under the Takeovers Code.

Afterwards, the Share price had basically been remaining at a range of over HK$0.100 to the

highest of HK$0.168 during the Review Period. During the period from 25 May 2009 to the

Last Trading Day, save for the fluctuation in the Share prices as a result of the announced

possible change of control in the Company, we are not aware of any other reasons for the

fluctuation of the Share price. After the release of the Joint Announcement and up to the

Latest Practicable Date, the Shares closed between HK$0.120 and HK$0.150 and closed at

HK$0.135 as at the Latest Practicable Date , it represents a significant premium of

approximately 3.82 times over the Offer Price of HK$0.028.

Historical trading liquidity of the Offer Shares

The average daily number of Shares traded per month, and the respective percentages

of the Shares’ monthly trading volume during the Review Period as compared to (i) the total

number of issued Shares held by the public as at the Last Trading Day; and (ii) the total number

of issued Shares as at the Last Trading Day are tabulated as follows:

Total monthly
trading volume

of the Shares

Average
trading volume

of the Shares
per trading day

during the
month

% of average
daily trading

volume of the
Shares to the
average total
issued Shares

% of average
daily trading

volume of
the Shares to

average public
float Shares

Number of
trading days in

each month

2008
August 5,486,000 288,737 0.015 0.058 19
September 6,644,000 316,381 0.016 0.064 21
October 30,280,403 1,441,924 0.075 0.292 21
November 4,376,000 218,800 0.011 0.044 20
December 4,196,000 199,810 0.010 0.040 21

2009
January 3,266,000 181,444 0.009 0.037 18
February 6,288,000 314,400 0.016 0.064 20
March 5,560,000 252,727 0.013 0.051 22
April 15,818,230 790,912 0.041 0.160 20
May 75,552,000 4,197,333 0.218 0.849 18
June 61,484,000 2,794,727 0.145 0.565 22
July 9,254,000 420,636 0.022 0.085 22
August

(up to 5 August 2009) 1,208,000 402,667 0.021 0.081 3

Source: Bloomberg
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The above table illustrates that the average daily trading volume of the Shares per
month was extremely thin during the Review Period. Save and except for May and June 2009,
the average daily trading volume of the Shares was below 0.3% of the total number of issued
Shares held by the public as at the Last Trading Day during the entire Review Period. Given
that the Shares were illiquid during the Review Period, the disposal of large block of Shares
held by the Independent Shareholders in the open market is expected to trigger price slump
of the Shares.

For the above reason, there is no guarantee that Independent Shareholders would be
able to realise their investments in the Shares (especially those with relatively sizeable
shareholdings) at the price level prior to the Last Trading Day or at a price much higher than
the Offer Price.

However, we note that the closing price of the Shares has been significantly above the
Offer Price during the period commencing on 12 August 2009 (i.e. when the Shares resumed
trading on the Stock Exchange) up to and including the Latest Practicable Date. Independent
Shareholders who wish to dispose of their Shares may consider selling their Shares in the
stock market rather than accepting the Offer if the net proceeds from a sale of their Shares in
the stock market would, after deducting all transaction costs, yield a higher consideration than
the net amount to be received under the Offer.

Fur thermore, those Independent Shareholders who, after considering the information
on the Offeror and the future intentions of the Offeror regarding the Group as detailed in the
Offer Document and set for th under the section headed “Background of the Offeror and its
intention regarding the future of the Group” of this letter, are optimistic about the prospects
of the Group after the Offer, may, having regard to their own circumstances, consider retaining
all or any par t of their Shares. However, we note that the Offeror has no intention or concrete
plan for any acquisition of assets and/or business by the Group as at the Latest Practicable
Date.

Other commonly used benchmarks

In assessing the fairness and reasonableness of the Offer Price, it is a general industry
practice to apply other commonly used benchmarks for evaluating the value of companies
including price to book ratio, price to earnings ratio, price to sales ratio, price to enterprise
value ratio and dividend yield. However, taking into account that (i) the Group is a software
licensing company in nature and, therefore, not an asset-based company; (ii) the Group’s total
assets mainly comprised other intangible assets (i.e. mainly customer contracts) and bank and
cash balances as at 31 March 2009, representing approximately 28.9% and 67.3% of its
consolidated total equity attributable to equity shareholders respectively as at 31 March 2009;
(iii) the Group has been loss-making over at least the past three FYs ended 31 March 2009;
(iv) the Group is lacking sufficient scale of business operations which had been substantially
contracted with very minimal turnover of approximately HK$1.7 million and HK$2.7 million
for the two FYs ended 31 March 2009 when compared to that of approximately HK$535.7
million and HK$505.4 million during the two FYs ended 31 March 2006; (v) the Group’s
turnover generated from its sole remaining business operation, namely licensing of software,
had been decreasing from approximately HK$925,000 for the three months ended 30 June
2008 to that of approximately HK$781,000 for the three months ended 30 June 2009; (vi) the
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negative segment results for the Group’s sole remaining business operation were
approximately HK$2.3 million and HK$34.5 million for the two FYs ended 31 March 2009; (vii)
the Company had not been paying dividend to the Shareholders since the payment of final
dividend for the FY ended 31 March 2005, other than the special dividend of HK$0.118 per
Share paid out of its share premium account in May 2007 as a consequence of the excessive
cash resources received from the disposal of its core record production and distribution
business; and (viii) it is very unlikely that any dividend will be distributed in the near future
because the Company has substantial accumulated losses of approximately HK$165.1 million
up to 31 March 2009, and hence no distributable reserve was available for dividend payment
as at 31 March 2009, we consider that the commonly used benchmarks as mentioned above
might not be appropriate for evaluating the value of the Company by comparing with other
listed companies with normal and sizeable business operations. In addition, we fur ther
consider that the Group’s principal value is its bank and cash balances of approximately
HK$19.0 million (i.e. representing approximately 62.5% of its consolidated total equity
attributable to equity shareholders of approximately HK$30.4 million) as at 30 June 2009, and
hence, the hypothetical cash balance attributable to each Share merely amounted to
HK$0.0099 which was approximately 64.6% lower than the Offer Price of HK$0.028.

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

Having considered the principal factors and reasons as discussed above, in par ticular the
following:

• the loss-making situation of the Group during the three FYs ended 31 March 2009 and
the three months ended 30 June 2009. Having considered the global economic
recession and the competitive business environment of the Group, we are of the view
that in the absence of any dramatic change, it is uncer tain as to whether the profitability
of the Group would be improved after the close of the Offer ;

• the Group’s losses attributable to equity holders of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$68.2 million, HK$63.2 million and HK$47.8 million for each of the
three FYs ended 31 March 2009 respectively mainly due to the substantial contraction
of business operation following the disposal of its core record production and
distribution business and closure of Rojam Disco during the years, while the Group had
net assets of approximately HK$33.0 million as at 31 March 2009. If the Group’s
loss-making situation cannot be turned around shor tly, it might go into a position of net
deficiency in assets;

• the Group had recorded net operating cash outflow of approximately HK$32.3 million
and HK$22.9 million for each of two FYs ended 31 March 2009 based on the annual
repor t of the Group for the FY ended 31 March 2009;

• the Group had recorded negative segment results of its sole remaining business
operation of approximately HK$2.3 million and HK$34.5 million for the two FYs ended
31 March 2009;

• the Offeror has no intention or concrete plan for any acquisition of assets and/or
business by the Group;
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• the general increasing trend in the price of the Shares from December 2008 to May

2009 was speculative in nature;

• the trading liquidity of the Shares had been extremely thin during the Review Period,

including the trading days after the release of the Joint Announcement. It is uncer tain

whether the liquidity of the Shares could be improved before the close of the Offer to

allow the Independent Shareholders to dispose of their holding in the Shares in the

market;

• no normal dividend was distributed by the Company during the past four FYs ended 31

March 2009 and it is very unlikely that any dividend will be distributed in the near

future, because the Company has substantial accumulated losses, and hence no

distributable reserve was available for dividend payment as at 31 March 2009;

• the Offer Price of HK$0.028 represents a significant premium of approximately 64.7%

over the audited consolidated total equity attributable to Shareholders per Share as at

31 March 2009; and

• the Offer Price of HK$0.028 represents a substantial discount to the market price of

the Shares as well as the average of the close prices of the Shares for the past six

months up to the Last Trading Day. However, given the consistent extremely thin

trading volume of the Shares, Independent Shareholders who may wish to realize their

investment in the Company, especially those with relatively sizeable shareholdings,

might not be able to do so without having an adverse impact on the market price level

of the Shares. Accordingly, we consider that the market price of the Shares may not

necessarily reflect the proceeds Independent Shareholders can receive by disposal of

the Shares in the open market; and the Offer represents an alternative oppor tunity for

the Independent Shareholders to realize their investment in the Company,

we consider that the terms of the Offer (including the Offer Price) are fair and reasonable and would

recommend Independent Shareholders to accept the Offer and we advise the Independent Board

Committee accordingly.

However, Independent Shareholders should pay par ticular attention that the closing price of

the Shares has been significantly above the Offer Price during the period commencing on 12 August

2009 (i.e. when the Shares resumed trading on the Stock Exchange) up to and including the Latest

Practicable Date. Independent Shareholders who wish to dispose of their Shares should carefully and

closely monitor the market price of the Shares and sell their Shares in the stock market rather than

accepting the Offer if the net proceeds from a sale of their Shares in the stock market would, after

deducting all transaction costs, yield a higher consideration than the net amount to be received under

the Offer. However, should the market price of the Shares substantially fall below the close of the

Offer such that Independent Shareholders could receive a higher net amount by accepting the Offer

than by selling their Shares in the stock market, Independent Shareholders who wish to dispose of

their Shares should (if such circumstances arise) accept the Offer.
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As different Shareholders would have different investment criteria, objectives, risk preference

and tolerance level and/or circumstances, we would recommend any Shareholder who may require

advice in relation to any aspect of the Offer Document and the Response Document, or as to the

action to be taken, to consult a licensed securities dealer, bank manager, solicitor, professional

accountant, tax adviser or other professional adviser.

Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of

First Shanghai Capital Limited
Helen Zee Eric Lee

Managing Director Deputy Managing Director
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1. FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The following is a summary of the audited financial results of the Group for each of the three

years ended 31 March 2009 as extracted from the audited financial statements of the Group for each

of the three years ended 31 March 2007, 2008 and 2009.

The Company’s auditors have not issued any qualified opinion on the Group’s financial

statements for the three years ended 31 March 2007, 2008 and 2009. Except for the loss on disposal
of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2007, there were no extraordinary items or
exceptional items during each of the three years ended 31 March 2009 based on the relevant annual
repor ts of the Company.

RESULTS

(Continuing operations and discontinued operations)

Year ended 31 March
2009 2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 2,714 6,677 524,582

(Loss)/Profit before income tax (48,977) (62,795) 42,601
Income tax credit/(expense) 1,155 (410) (82,428)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries – – (28,422)

Loss for the year (47,822) (63,205) (68,249)

Loss attributable to equity holders of
the Company (47,822) (63,205) (68,249)

Dividends – – 227,281
Dividends per share (HK$) – – 11.8 cents

Loss per share
– basic (HK$) 2.5 cents 3.3 cents 3.6 cents

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 38,292 93,056 380,547
Total liabilities (5,323) (13,378) (13,733)

Net assets 32,969 79,678 366,814

Minority interests 675 675 675
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2. AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE GROUP FOR THE YEAR

ENDED 31 MARCH 2009

Set out below are the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March

2009 together with accompanying notes as extracted from the annual repor t of the Company for the

year ended 31 March 2009.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 March 2009

2009 2008
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

(restated)

Continuing operations

Turnover 6 2,706 1,667

Cost of sales and service rendered (1,365) (407)

Gross profit 1,341 1,260

Other income 7 929 5,769
Selling expenses (282) (226)
Administrative expenses (9,328) (12,564)
Other operating expenses (33,367) (2,147)

Loss before tax (40,707) (7,908)

Income tax credit 9 1,155 154

Loss for the year from
continuing operations 11 (39,552) (7,754)

Discontinued operations

Loss for the year from
discontinued operations 10(b) (8,270) (55,451)

Loss for the year (47,822) (63,205)

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 13 (47,822) (63,205)

Basic loss per share

Loss from continuing and discontinued
operations 15 2.5 cents 3.3 cents

Loss from continuing operations 15 2.1 cents 0.4 cents
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
At 31 March 2009

2009 2008
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

Proper ty, plant and equipment 16 235 500
Goodwill 17 – 17,571
Other intangible assets 18 9,531 16,359

9,766 34,430

Current assets

Inventories 20 – 17
Trade receivables 22 253 5,308
Prepayments, deposits and

other receivables 6,079 9,154
Bank and cash balances 23 22,194 44,147

28,526 58,626

Current liabilities

Trade payables 24 7 231
Accruals and other payables 4,459 11,178

4,466 11,409

Net current assets 24,060 47,217

Total assets less current liabilities 33,826 81,647

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 25 857 1,969

857 1,969

NET ASSETS 32,969 79,678

Capital and reserves

Share capital 26 192,611 192,611
Reserves 27 (160,317) (113,608)

Equity attributable to
equity holders of the Company 32,294 79,003

Minority interests 675 675

TOTAL EQUITY 32,969 79,678
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BALANCE SHEET

At 31 March 2009

2009 2008
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 19 – 29,707

Current assets

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables 245 132

Due from subsidiaries 21 23,241 29,758
Bank and cash balances 12,322 28,086

35,808 57,976

Current liabilities

Accruals and other payables 424 548

Net current assets 35,384 57,428

NET ASSETS 35,384 87,135

Capital and reserves

Share capital 26 192,611 192,611
Reserves 27 (157,227) (105,476)

TOTAL EQUITY 35,384 87,135
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2009

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share
capital

Share
premium

account
Exchange

reserve
Accumulated

losses Total
Minority
interests

Total
equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2007 192,611 227,283 319 (54,074) 366,139 675 366,814

Exchange adjustment on translation of
financial statements of overseas
subsidiaries – – 3,350 – 3,350 – 3,350

Net income recognised
directly in equity – – 3,350 – 3,350 – 3,350

Loss for the year – – – (63,205) (63,205) – (63,205)

Total recognised income and expense
for the year – – 3,350 (63,205) (59,855) – (59,855)

2007 special dividend paid – (227,281) – – (227,281) – (227,281)

At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2008 192,611 2 3,669 (117,279) 79,003 675 79,678

Exchange adjustment on translation of
financial statements of overseas
subsidiaries – – 1,113 – 1,113 – 1,113

Net income recognised
directly in equity – – 1,113 – 1,113 – 1,113

Loss for the year – – – (47,822) (47,822) – (47,822)

Total recognised income and expense
for the year – – 1,113 (47,822) (46,709) – (46,709)

At 31 March 2009 192,611 2 4,782 (165,101) 32,294 675 32,969
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 March 2009

2009 2008
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

(restated)

CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before tax
– Continuing operations (40,707) (7,908)
– Discontinued operations (8,270) (54,887)

(48,977) (62,795)
Adjustments for :

Amor tisation of intangible assets 3,696 1,428
Depreciation 251 2,120
Loss on disposals of proper ty, plant

and equipment 23 3,628
Allowance for inventories 9 103
Allowance for receivables 8,235 –
Impairment on goodwill 17,953 23,519
Impairment on other

intangible assets 3,483 710
Impairment on proper ty,

plant and equipment – 7,181
Interest income (635) (4,976)
Gain from trading of

financial assets – (419)

Operating loss before working capital
changes (15,962) (29,501)
Decrease in inventories 8 6
Decrease in trade receivables,

prepayments, deposits and
other receivables 193 1,450

Decrease in trade payables, accruals
and other payables (7,151) (4,216)

Cash used in operations (22,912) (32,261)
Income taxes refunded – 11

Net cash used in
operating activities (22,912) (32,250)
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2009 2008
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

(restated)

CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Increase in restricted
bank deposits – (555)

Acquisition of a subsidiary 28 – (45,753)
Interest received 635 4,976
Purchases of proper ty,

plant and equipment – (4,162)
Proceeds from disposals of proper ty,

plant and equipment – 81
Proceeds from trading of

financial assets – 564

Net cash generated from/(used in)
investing activities 635 (44,849)

CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid to equity holders of
the Company – (115,090)

Net cash used in
financing activities – (115,090)

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS (22,277) (192,189)

Effect of foreign exchange
rate changes 312 887

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 43,592 234,894

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR 21,627 43,592

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank and cash balances 22,194 44,147
Restricted bank deposits (567) (555)

21,627 43,592
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2009

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P. O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of business
is Unit 501, Lucky Building, 39 Wellington Street, Central, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally engaged in the development and
licensing of software and technology for use in connection with the provision of value-added
telecommunication services in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and content distribution business.
The business of discotheque management ceased on 28 July 2008.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, as at 31 March 2009, the Group has no holding company or
ultimate controlling par ty.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised Hong Kong Financial Repor ting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Cer tified Public Accountants that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning on 1 April 2008. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong
Financial Repor ting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards; and Interpretations. The
adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in substantial changes to the Group’s accounting
policies and amounts repor ted for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has
already commenced an assessment of the impact of these new HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state
whether these new HKFRSs would have a material impact on its results of operations and financial position.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of cer tain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise its judgements in the process of applying
the accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to these financial statements, are disclosed in note 4 to the financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control.
Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or conver tible are considered when assessing whether the Group has control.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.
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The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary represents the difference between the proceeds of
the sale and the Group’s share of its net assets together with any goodwill relating to the subsidiary
which was not previously charged or recognised in the consolidated income statement and also any
related accumulated exchange reserve.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised profits on transactions between Group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Minority interests represent the interests of minority shareholders in the operating results and net
assets of subsidiaries. Minority interests are presented in the consolidated balance sheet and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity. Minority interests are presented in the
consolidated income statement as an allocation of profit or loss for the year between minority and
shareholders of the Company. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interests
in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the Group except to the extent that
the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover the losses.
If the subsidiary subsequently repor ts profits, such profits are allocated to the interests of the Group
until the minority’s share of losses previously absorbed by the Group has been recovered.

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority interests as transactions with
par ties external to the Group. Disposals to minority interests result in gains and losses for the Group
that are recorded in the consolidated income statement. Purchases from minority interests result in
goodwill, being the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the
carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary.

In the Company’s balance sheet the investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less allowance for
impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable.

(b) Business combination

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the
Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to
the acquisition. Identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary in an acquisition
are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Impairment losses of goodwill are recognised in the consolidated income statement and are not
subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment
testing.

The interests of minority shareholders in the subsidiary is initially measured at the minority’s
propor tion of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities at the acquisition date.

(c) Foreign currency transactions

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.
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(ii) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency using the

exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign

currencies are translated at the rates ruling on the balance sheet date. Profits and losses

resulting from this translation policy are included in the income statement.

(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency

different from the Company’s presentation currency are translated into the Company’s

presentation currency as follows:

– Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing

rate at the date of that balance sheet;

– Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange

rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect

of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses

are translated at the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

– All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in

foreign entities and of borrowings are recognised in the exchange reserve. When a foreign

operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in the consolidated income

statement as par t of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated

as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Proper ty, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment

losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow

to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance

are expensed in the income statement during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of proper ty, plant and equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost

less their residual values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual

rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 20% – 50%
Office equipment, furniture and fixtures 20% – 25%
Computer equipment 30%
Discotheque equipment 20% – 33%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate,

at each balance sheet date.

The gain or loss on disposal of proper ty, plant and equipment is the difference between the net sales

proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in the income statement.
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(e) Operating leases

Leases in which a significant por tion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor

are classified as operating leases. Lease payments are expensed in the income statement on a

straight-line basis over the lease term.

(f) Intangible assets

(i) Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to

acquire and bring to use the specific software. These costs are amor tised over their

estimated useful lives of 10 years.

(ii) Club debentures

Club debentures are shown at historical cost and have a finite useful life. Club debentures

are carried at cost less accumulated amor tisation. Amor tisation is calculated using the

straight-line method to allocate the cost to their residual values over their estimated useful

lives of 35 years.

(iii) Customer contract

Customer contract represents the software licence contracts with telecommunication

service providers who possess Value-Added Telecommunication Operation Licenses to

provide value-added telecommunication ser vices and have established cooperative

arrangements with leading communications operators in the PRC. The amount is measured

initially at purchase cost and is amor tised using the straight-line method over the estimated

life of the software licensed of 5 years.

(g) Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group, the operations and cash flows of which can

be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which represents a separate major line of

business or geographical area of operations, or is par t of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a

separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired

exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the

criteria to be classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5, if earlier. It also occurs when the

operation is abandoned.

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount is presented on the face of the

income statement, which comprises:

– The post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation; and

– The post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or

on the disposal, of the assets or disposal group constituting the discontinued operation.

(h) Inventories

Inventories represent merchandise and are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost

is determined using the first-in, first-out method. The cost of finished goods comprises purchase cost.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling prince in the ordinary course of business, less applicable

variable selling expenses.
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(i) Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet when the Group becomes
a par ty to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets
expire; the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets
but has not retained control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly in equity is recognised in the income
statement.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in the income statement.

(j) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market and are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amor tised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment. An
allowance for impairment of trade and other receivables is established when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms
of receivables. The amount of the allowance is the difference between the receivables’ carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition. The amount of the allowance is recognised in the income statement.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods and recognised in the income statement when
an increase in the receivables’ recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the
receivables at the date the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the amor tised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and shor t-term highly liquid
investments which are readily conver tible into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant
risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral par t of
the Group’s cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

(l) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

(m) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amor tised cost using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(n) Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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(o) Revenue recognition

(i) Licensing income generated from the licensing of content and technology for use in

connection with the provision of value-added telecommunication services is recognised on

an accruals basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.

(ii) Revenue from operation of discotheque, including sales of food and beverages, is recognised

when the service is rendered.

(iii) Interest income is recognised on a time-propor tion basis using the effective interest method.

(p) Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when they

accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long

service leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of

leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes which are available to all

employees. Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated as a

percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged to the

income statement represents contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group demonstrably commits

itself to terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by

having a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

(q) Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as

repor ted in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable

or deductible in other years and it fur ther excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The

Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in

the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit,

and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally

recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent

that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary

differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not

recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other

than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the

taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in

subsidiaries except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and

it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
par t of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is charged or credited to the income statement, except when
it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt
with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

(r) Related parties

A par ty is related to the Group if:

(i) directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the par ty controls, is controlled by,
or is under common control with, the Group; has an interest in the Group that gives it
significant influence over the Group; or has joint control over the Group;

(ii) the par ty is an associate;

(iii) the par ty is a joint venture;

(iv) the par ty is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or its parent;

(v) the par ty is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (i) or (iv);

(vi) the par ty is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or for
which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (iv) or (v); or

(vii) the par ty is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the Group, or of
any entity that is a related par ty of the Group.

(s) Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products
and services (business segment), or in providing products or services within a par ticular economic
environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from
those of other segments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial repor ting, the Group has determined that business
segments be presented as the primary repor ting format and geographical segments as the secondary
repor ting format.

Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as
well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to the segment. Unallocated costs mainly
represent corporate expenses. Segment assets consist primarily of proper ty, plant and equipment,
goodwill, other intangible assets, inventories, receivables and operating cash. Segment liabilities
comprise operating liabilities and exclude items such as tax liabilities and corporate borrowings.

Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are determined before intra-group balances and
intra-group transactions are eliminated as par t of the consolidation process, except to the extent
that such intra-group balances and transactions are between Group enterprises within a single
segment. Inter-segment pricing is based on similar terms as those available to other external par ties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets
(both tangible and intangible) that are expected to be used for more than one period.
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(t) Impairment of assets

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible

assets except goodwill, inventories and receivables to determine whether there is any indication that

those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of

the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not

possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in

use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the

asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying

amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable

amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the income statement, unless the relevant

asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation

decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently rever ses, the carr ying amount of the asset or

cash-generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the

increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined

(net of amor tisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset or

cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the

income statement, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the

reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

(u) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncer tain timing or amount when the Group has a present

legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of

economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.

Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot

be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of

outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or

non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the

probability of outflow is remote.

(v) Events after the balance sheet date

Events after the balance sheet date that provide additional information about the Group’s position at

the balance sheet date or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate are

adjusting events and are reflected in the financial statements. Events after the balance sheet date that

are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when material.

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncer tainty at the balance

sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.
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(a) Useful life of other intangible assets

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related amor tisation charges for the Group’s
other intangible assets. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
other intangible assets of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise the amor tisation charge
where useful lives are different to those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non- strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

(b) Impairment of other intangible assets

The Group assess at each repor ting date whether there is an indication that the other intangible
assets may be impaired. If any indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
other intangible assets. The Group measures the recoverable amount of the other intangible assets
with reference to their value in use. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the other intangible assets and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. The carrying amount of other intangible assets at the balance
sheet date was HK$9,531,000 after an impairment loss of HK$3,483,000 was recognised during the
year. Details of the impairment loss calculation are provided in note 18 to financial statement.

(c) Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The carrying amount of goodwill at the
balance sheet date was HK$Nil after an impairment loss of HK$17,953,000 was recognised during
the year. Details of the impairment loss calculation are provided in note 17 to financial statements.

(d) Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group makes impairment of receivables based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade
and other receivables, including the current creditwor thiness and the past collection history of each
debtor. Impairments arise where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may
not be collectible. The identification of impairment of receivables requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the actual result is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact
the carrying value of the trade and other receivables and impairment of receivables in the year in
which such estimate has been changed.

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management is carried out by the Group’s Treasury function. The Group adopts a conservative and
balanced treasury policy which focuses on the financial risks factor as below and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign exchange risk

The Group has cer tain exposure to foreign currency risk as cer tain Group companies with its
functional currency denominated in Hong Kong dollars have business transactions and assets
denominated in United States dollars. As Hong Kong dollars is pegged to US dollars, the foreign
exchange exposure of these Group companies is therefore limited.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

(b) Credit risk

The maximum exposure of credit risks arises from bank and cash balances, bank deposits and credit
exposures to outstanding trade receivables and other receivables.
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The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited because the counter par ties are banks with high

credit- ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

For outstanding receivables, the Group has significant concentration of credit risk as majority of trade

receivables and other receivables are due from two major customers of one of the subsidiary –

AnyMusic Limited (“AnyMusic”).

Pursuant to the contracts between AnyMusic and the two major customers, AnyMusic licenses its

technology to these customers which they use for their digital content distribution businesses. In

return, AnyMusic is entitled to a specified percentage of the revenue generated by these customers,

which percentage is negotiated between the par ties based on existing market conditions when the

contracts are renewed annually.

Since there is no independent rating on these two customers, the credit risk is controlled by

assessing the credit quality of the customers taking into account their repayment history, past

experience and other factors. Due to the current market situation and the deterioration of the

operating environment, the Directors anticipate that the recoverability of the trade accounts and

other receivables of HK$8,235,000 from one of the customers is uncer tain, as a result the directors

determined to make an impairment on the trade accounts and other receivables.

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its bank deposits. Par t of the bank deposits

bear interests at variable rates varied with the then prevailing market condition and expose the

Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

Other bank deposits that bear fixed interest rate are subject to fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s result is not sensitive to changes in interest rate as the effect on the interest income

generated from bank deposits are insignificant.

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group adopts a prudent liquidity risk management policy to maintain sufficient cash to fund its

operations.

All the Group’s financial liabilities mature within one year.

(e) Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the

consolidated balance sheet approximate their respective fair value.
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6. TURNOVER

The Group’s turnover represents licensing of software income and discotheque income. The business in

discotheque management ceased on 28 July 2008. The Group’s turnover is as follows:

2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$’000

(restated)

Turnover

Continuing operations
Licensing of software income 2,706 1,667

Discontinued operations (note 10)
Discotheque income 8 5,010

2,714 6,677

7. OTHER INCOME

2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations
Interest income 635 4,976
Gain from trading of financial assets – 419
Sundry income 294 374

929 5,769

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Primary reporting format – business segments

The Group is principally engaged in two main business segments during the years ended 31 March

2009 and 2008.

Licensing of software – development and licensing of software and technology for use in
connection with the provision of value added telecommunication
services

Discotheque – discotheque management (ceased on 28 July 2008)

(b) Secondary reporting format – geographical segments

All the Group’s revenue and assets are derived from customers and operations based in the PRC and

accordingly, no fur ther analysis of the Group’s geographical segment is disclosed.
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Primar y reporting format – business segments

Continuing
operations –
Licensing of

software

Discontinued
operations –
Discotheque Elimination Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 March 2009
Turnover

External sales 2,706 8 – 2,714
Inter-segment sales – – – –

Total 2,706 8 – 2,714

Segment results* (34,454) (8,270) – (42,724)

Other income 929
Unallocated corporate expense (7,182)

Loss before tax (48,977)
Income tax credit 1,155

Loss for the year (47,822)

Segment assets 24,166 1,123 – 25,289

Unallocated corporate assets 13,003

Total assets 38,292

Segment liabilities (292) (33,587) 30,078 (3,801)

Unallocated corporate liabilities (1,522)

Total liabilities (5,323)

Impairment on goodwill recognised in
income statement 17,953 – – 17,953

Impairment on other intangible assets 3,483 – – 3,483

Amor tisation of other intangible assets 3,696 – – 3,696

Allowance for inventories – 9 – 9

Allowance for receivables 8,235 – – 8,235

Depreciation 222 – – 222

Unallocated corporate depreciation 29

251

* The segment losses of the licensing of software and discotheque management operation,
excluding the impairment on goodwill, impairment and amortisation of the other intangible
assets, are HK$9,322,000 and HK$8,270,000 respectively.
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Continuing
operations –
Licensing of

software

Discontinued
operations –
Discotheque Elimination Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 March 2008 (restated)
Turnover

External sales 1,667 5,010 – 6,677
Inter-segment sales – – – –

Total 1,667 5,010 – 6,677

Segment results* (2,305) (54,887) – (57,192)

Other income 5,769
Unallocated corporate expense (11,372)

Loss before tax (62,795)
Income tax expenses (410)

Loss for the year (63,205)

Segment assets 57,207 4,434 – 61,641

Unallocated corporate assets 31,415

Total assets 93,056

Segment liabilities (538) (28,608) 18,970 (10,176)

Unallocated corporate liabilities (3,202)

Total liabilities (13,378)

Capital expenditure – 4,162 – 4,162

Impairment on goodwill recognised in
income statement – 23,519 – 23,519

Impairment on other intangible assets 710 – – 710

Amor tisation of other intangible assets 1,428 – – 1,428

Allowance for inventories – 103 – 103

Impairment on proper ty, plant and
equipment – 7,181 – 7,181

Depreciation 110 1,988 – 2,098

Unallocated corporate depreciation 22

2,120

* The segment losses of the licensing of software and discotheque management operation,
excluding the impairment on goodwill, impairment and amortisation of the other intangible
assets, are HK$167,000 and HK$31,368,000 respectively.
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9. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES

2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$’000

(restated)

Current tax – PRC taxation
Provision for the year – –
Over-provision in prior years – (11)

– (11)

Deferred tax (note 25) (1,155) 421

(1,155) 410

Representing:
Continuing operations (1,155) (154)
Discontinued operations (note 10) – 564

(1,155) 410

(a) No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Company and its subsidiaries in Hong

Kong have no assessable profits for the year (2008: Nil).

(b) PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The new PRC enterprise income tax law passed by the Tenth National People’s Congress on 16

March 2007 introduces various changes which include the unification of the enterprise income tax

rate for domestic and foreign enterprises. On 6 December 2007, the State Council of the PRC issued

implementation regulation of the new tax law to change the enterprise income tax rate from 33% to

25%. The new tax law was effective from 1 January 2008.

No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax had been made for the year as the subsidiaries in the

PRC have no assessable profits for the year (2008: Nil).

The tax on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise

using the tax rate of Hong Kong as follows:

2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before tax (48,977) (62,795)

Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% (2008: 17.5%) (8,081) (10,989)
Effect of different taxation rates in other countries (767) (2,283)
Income not subject to taxation (87) (803)
Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes 7,890 13,547
Tax losses not recognised 768 949
Tax effect of timing difference previously not recognised (878) –
Over-provision in prior year – (11)

Income tax (credit)/expense (1,155) 410
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(a) Cer tain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. The
changes included the reclassification of cer tain profit and loss items from continuing operations to
discontinued operations.

(b) The results of the discontinued operations which have been included in the consolidated income
statement, are as follows:

2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$’000

(restated)

Turnover 8 5,010
Cost of sales and service rendered (1,323) (18,418)

Gross loss (1,315) (13,408)
Administrative expenses (1,997) (703)
Other operating expenses (4,958) (40,776)

Loss before tax (8,270) (54,887)
Income tax expenses – (564)

Loss for the year (8,270) (55,451)

(c) An analysis of the cash flows from the discontinued operations is as follows:

2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$’000

(restated)

Operating cash flows (13,961) (18,613)
Investing cash flows – (4,155)
Financing cash flows 11,108 18,294

(2,853) (4,474)

(d) Expenses by nature for the discontinued operations:

2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$’000

(restated)

Cost of inventories sold 9 1,334
Depreciation of proper ty, plant and equipment – 1,988
Loss on disposals of proper ty, plant and equipment – 3,628
Operating leases charges on land and buildings 871 4,808
Allowance for inventories 9 103
Impairment on goodwill – 23,519
Impairment on proper ty, plant and equipment – 7,181
Staff costs excluding directors’ emoluments

Wages an salaries 1,006 3,774
Social security costs 118 95
Pension costs – defined contribution plans – –

1,124 3,869
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11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR – CONTINUING OPERATIONS

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging the following:

2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$’000

(restated)

Amor tisation of other intangible assets (included in
other operating expenses) 3,696 1,428

Depreciation 251 132
Loss on disposals of proper ty, plant and equipment 23 –
Operating lease charges on land and buildings 491 748
Auditor’s remuneration 600 632
Impairment on other intangible assets (included in

other operating expenses) 3,483 710
Allowance for receivables (included in other operating expenses) 8,235 –
Impairment on goodwill (included in other operating expenses) 17,953 –
Staff costs excluding directors’ emoluments

Wages and salaries 1,848 2,255
Social security costs 102 65
Pension costs – defined contribution plans 44 53

1,994 2,373

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments of each director were as follows:

Fees

Salaries
and

allowances

Employer’s
contributions

to pension
scheme Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive Directors

Takeyasu Hashizume – – – –
Etsuro Tojo (note (c)) – 1,211 – 1,211
Etsuko Hoshiyama (note (c)) – 949 12 961
Hiroshige Tonomura (note (d)) – – – –
Wang Kefei (note (e)) – 1,857 – 1,857
Hidenori Nakai (note (b)) – – – –
Tetsuo Mori (note (h)) – – – –

– 4,017 12 4,029

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Seiichi Nakaoda 60 – – 60
Kwong Pui Kei 60 – – 60
Law Kar Ping (note (g)) 5 – – 5
Chan Hing Keung, Wilson (note (a)) 55 – – 55

180 – – 180

Total for 2009 180 4,017 12 4,209
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Fees

Salaries
and

allowances

Employer’s
contributions

to pension
scheme Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive Directors

Takeyasu Hashizume – – – –
Etsuro Tojo (note (c)) – 864 – 864
Etsuko Hoshiyama (note (c)) – 663 8 671
Hiroshige Tonomura (note (d)) – – – –
Wang Kefei (note (e)) – 523 – 523
Tetsuo Mori (note (h)) – – – –
Cheng Kit Sum, Clara (note (c), (f)) – 466 7 473
Osamu Nagashima (note (i)) – – – –
Mitsuo Sakauchi (note (i)) – – – –
Yukitsugu Shimizu (note (i)) – – – –
Hiroshi Osaki (note (j)) – – – –

– 2,516 15 2,531

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Seiichi Nakaoda 85 – – 85
Kwong Pui Kei 85 – – 85
Law Kar Ping (note (g)) 85 – – 85

255 – – 255

Total for 2008 255 2,516 15 2,786

(a) Appointed on 1 May 2008
(b) Appointed on 10 April 2008
(c) Appointed on 25 July 2007
(d) Appointed on 20 September 2007
(e) Appointed on 13 December 2007
(f) Resigned on 28 January 2008
(g) Resigned on 1 May 2008
(h) Resigned on 10 April 2008
(i) Resigned on 25 July 2007
(j) Resigned on 20 September 2007

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the
year.

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included three (2008: four) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The emoluments of the remaining two (2008: one)
individuals are set out below:

2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 771 414
Pension costs – defined contribution plans 36 12

807 426
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The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals
2009 2008

Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 1

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the highest paid

individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company included a loss of approximately

HK$51,751,000 (2008: loss of approximately HK$77,842,000) which has been dealt with in the financial

statements of the Company.

14. DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend (2008: HK$Nil) in respect of the year.

15. BASIC LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to equity holders of the Company by the

weighed average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2009 2008
(restated)

Continuing operations
Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company (HK$’000) 39,552 7,754

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 1,926,114 1,926,114

Basic loss per share (HK cents per share) 2.1 cents 0.4 cents

Discontinued operations
Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company (HK$’000) 8,270 55,451

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 1,926,114 1,926,114

Basic loss per share (HK cents per share) 0.4 cents 2.9 cents

Total
Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company (HK$’000) 47,822 63,205

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 1,926,114 1,926,114

Basic loss per share (HK cents per share) 2.5 cents 3.3 cents

No diluted loss per share have been presented as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the

years ended 31 March 2009 and 2008.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group

Leasehold
improvement

Office
equipment,

furniture
and

fixtures
Computer
equipment

Discotheque
equipment Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At 1 April 2007 122 170 169 12,444 12,905
Additions 48 – – 4,114 4,162
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 28) – 16 518 – 534
Disposals (122) – (21) (8,781) (8,924)
Exchange differences – 1 33 1,248 1,282

At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2008 48 187 699 9,025 9,959
Additions – – – – –
Disposals – – (106) (9,209) (9,315)
Exchange differences – 1 11 184 196

At 31 March 2009 48 188 604 – 840

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

At 1 April 2007 122 151 157 4,405 4,835
Charge for the year 2 20 110 1,988 2,120
Disposals (122) – (13) (5,080) (5,215)
Impairment loss – – – 7,181 7,181
Exchange differences – 1 6 531 538

At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2008 2 172 260 9,025 9,459
Charge for the year 24 10 217 – 251
Disposals – – (83) (9,209) (9,292)
Exchange differences – 1 2 184 187

At 31 March 2009 26 183 396 – 605

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2009 22 5 208 – 235

At 31 March 2008 46 15 439 – 500
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17. GOODWILL

Group
HK’000

Cost

At 1 April 2007 23,519
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (note 28) 16,485
Exchange difference 1,086

At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2008 41,090
Exchange difference 949

At 31 March 2009 42,039

Accumulated impairment losses

At 1 April 2007 –
Impairment loss recognised 23,519

At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2008 23,519
Impairment loss recognised 17,953
Exchange difference 567

At 31 March 2009 42,039

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2009 –

At 31 March 2008 17,571

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGUs”)

identified according to the business segment that are expected to benefit from that business combination.

The carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows:

2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$’000

Licensing of software
– AnyMusic – 17,571

Discotheque management
– Shanghai Rojam – –

– 17,571

APPENDIX I FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

– 54 –



Licensing of software operation – AnyMusic

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions

for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and budgeted gross

margin and turnover during the period. The Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates

are based on long-term average economic growth rate of the geographical area in which the businesses of the

CGUs operate. Budgeted gross margin and turnover are based on past practices and expectations on market

development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by the

directors for the next five years with the residual period using the growth rate of 8%. This rate does not

exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from the Group’s licensing of software operation is 19.8%.

At 31 March 2009, before impairment testing, goodwill of HK$17,953,000 was allocated to the licensing of

software segment. Due to changes in market condition, the Group has revised its cash flow forecasts for this

CGU. The goodwill allocated to the licensing of software segment has therefore been reduced to its

recoverable amount through recognition of an impairment loss against goodwill of HK$17,953,000 during the

year (2008: Nil).

Discotheque management – Shanghai Rojam

The goodwill associated with Shanghai Rojam arose when the business was acquired by the Group in 2002.

From financial year 2002 to 2007, Shanghai Rojam only operate Rojam Disco. At the date of acquisition of

Shanghai Rojam by the Group, Shanghai Rojam operated one disco in Shanghai, the PRC (the “Rojam Disco”).

Due to change in market condition, the Group revised its business plan and ceased operations of Rojam

Disco on 24 December 2007. The goodwill allocated have therefore fully impaired during the year ended 31

March 2008.
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group
Computer

software
Club

debentures
Customer
contracts Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At 1 April 2007 – – – –
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 28) 34 527 16,907 17,468
Exchange differences 2 35 1,113 1,150

At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2008 36 562 18,020 18,618
Exchange difference 1 12 391 404

At 31 March 2009 37 574 18,411 19,022

Accumulated amortisation and
impairment loss

At 1 April 2007 – – – –
Amor tisation for the year 1 6 1,421 1,428
Impairment loss – – 710 710
Exchange differences – – 121 121

At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2008 1 6 2,252 2,259
Amor tisation for the year 1 17 3,678 3,696
Impairment loss – – 3,483 3,483
Exchange difference – 1 52 53

At 31 March 2009 2 24 9,465 9,491

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2009 35 550 8,946 9,531

At 31 March 2008 35 556 15,768 16,359

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of the other intangible assets in 2009, having
regard to the market conditions of the Group’s software. The customer contracts are used in the Group’s
licensing of software segment. The review led to the recognition of an impairment loss of HK$3,483,000 for
customer contracts (2008: HK$710,000) that have been recognised in the consolidated income statement.
The recoverable amount of the customer contracts has been determined on the basis of its value in use. The
discount rate used in measuring value in use was 19.8% (2008: 19.6%).

Computer software

Computer software represents acquired computer software licenses that are used in the operation of
provision of value added telecommunication services. As at 31 March 2009, the computer software has a
remaining amor tisation period of 5 years.

Club debentures

Club debenture represents acquired membership in a golf club. As at 31 March 2009, the club debenture has
a remaining amor tisation period of 32 years.
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Customer contracts

Customer contract represents the software licence contracts with telecommunication service providers who

possess Value-Added Telecommunication Operation Licenses to provide value-added telecommunication

services and have established cooperative arrangements with leading communications operators in the PRC.

As at 31 March 2009, the customer contracts have a remaining amor tisation period of 3.6 years.

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted investments, at cost 81,485 81,485
Less: Impairment losses (81,485) (51,778)

– 29,707

Par ticulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 March 2009 are as follows:

Name

Country/place and date
of incorporation/
establishment and kind of
legal entity

Issued and fully paid
up share
capital/registered
capital

Attributable
equity interest Principal activities and place

of operationDirect Indirect

Rojam Enter tainment
Limited

Hong Kong, 5 November
1997, limited liability
company

100,001 ordinary
shares of HK$1 each

100% – Intellectual proper ty holding and
provision of general
administration and management
services to group companies in
Hong Kong and the PRC.

Rojam Investment Limited The British Virgin Islands,
15 November 2000, limited
liability company

1 registered share of
US$1

100% – Investment holding in the PRC.

Shanghai Rojam
Enter tainment Company
Limited (“Shanghai
Rojam”) (Note)

The PRC, 13 November
1993, limited liability
company

Registered capital of
US$1,000,000

– 90% Operation of discotheque business
in the PRC (operation was
ceased on
28 July 2008).

AnyMusic Limited
(“AnyMusic”)

The PRC, 24 December
2002, limited liability
company

Registered capital of
US$3,620,000

– 100% Engaged in the development and
licensing of software
and technology for use in
connection with the
provision of value-added
telecommunication services
in the PRC.

Note:

On 18 September 2002, the Group entered into a Chinese-foreign cooperative joint venture contract with

the minority shareholder of Shanghai Rojam. By vir tue of the said contract, the minority shareholder has

agreed to accept a pre-fixed amount as its return on investment and services rendered, whereas the Group

will be entitled to/responsible for any or all operating profit or loss. The pre-fixed amount paid or payable to

the minority shareholder is recognised as management fee paid or payable to the minority shareholder in the

consolidated income statement.
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According to the terms of the said contract, the minority shareholder is entitled to a pre-fixed amount of

RMB600,000 for the year ended 31 December 2002, and of RMB500,000 per annum from the year beginning

1 January 2003. Such amount covers payment for management services rendered by the minority shareholder

and is subject to fur ther negotiation should the business encounter significant changes.

20. INVENTORIES

Group
2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Merchandise – 17

21. AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. As at

31 March 2009, an allowance was made for estimated irrecoverable amount due from subsidiaries of

approximately HK$111,359,000 (2008: HK$92,117,000).

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with customers from licensing operation are mainly on credit, the credit term is 30

days.

An ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows:

Group
2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 253 1,566
31 – 90 days – 93
91 – 180 days – 218
181 – 365 days – 540
Over 1 year – 2,891

253 5,308

The trade receivables are denominated in Renminbi, which is the functional currency of the operating

subsidiaries.

As at 31 March 2009, an allowance was made for estimated irrecoverable trade receivables of approximately

HK$4,040,000 (2008: HK$Nil). The movements in the balance for estimated irrecoverable trade receivables

during the year are as follows:

2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of year – –
Impairment loss recognised 4,040 –

At end of year 4,040 –
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An ageing analysis of trade receivables that were past due but not impaired is as follows:

Group
2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

31 – 90 days – 93
91 – 180 days – 218
Over 180 days – 3,431

– 3,742

23. BANK AND CASH BALANCES

As at 31 March 2009, bank and cash balances of the Group are denominated in the following currencies:

2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong Dollars 799 10,155
Renminbi 9,741 13,499
US Dollars 11,558 20,201
Japanese Yen 62 34
New Taiwan Dollars 34 258

22,194 44,147

Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and

Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

As at 31 March 2009, deposits in a bank account in the PRC which amounted to HK$567,000 (2008:

HK$555,000) was restricted for use.

24. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the date of receipt of goods, is as follows:

Group
2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 90 days 7 231
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25. DEFERRED TAX

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised by the Group.

Other
intangible

assets Provision Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2007 – 537 537
Exchange differences (157) 71 (86)
Credit/(charge) to consolidated income statement

for the year 187 (608) (421)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 28) (1,999) – (1,999)

At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2008 (1,969) – (1,969)
Exchange difference (43) – (43)
Credit to consolidated income statement for the

year (note 9) 1,155 – 1,155

At 31 March 2009 (857) – (857)

At the balance sheet date the Group has unused tax losses of HK$26,392,000 (2008: HK$26,335,000)

available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such losses

(2008: Nil) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses

of HK$870,000 and HK$642,000 (2008: HK$4,269,000 and HK$870,000) that will expire in 2012 and 2013

respectively. Other tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

26. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of
Shares Amount

HK$’000

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 (2008: HK$0.1) each

At 1 April 2007, 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2009 5,000,000,000 500,000

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 (2008: HK$0.1) each

At 1 April 2007, 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2009 1,926,114,403 192,611

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going

concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an

optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic

conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment of

dividends, return capital to shareholders and issue new shares.

The Group monitors capital by maintaining a net cash position throughout the year.
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The only externally imposed capital requirement is that for the Group to maintain its listing on the Stock
Exchange it has to have a public float of at least 18.2% of it’s shares. The Group receives a repor t from the
share registrars monthly on substantial share interests showing the non-public float and it demonstrates
continuing compliance with the 18.2% limit throughout the year. As at 31 March 2009, 25.66% (2008: 25.66%)
of the shares were in public hands.

27. RESERVES

(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

(b) Company

Share
premium

account
Accumulated

losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2007 227,283 (27,636) 199,647
Loss for the year – (77,842) (77,842)
2007 special dividend paid (227,281) – (227,281)

At 31 March 2008 and at 1 April 2008 2 (105,478) (105,476)
Loss for the year – (51,751) (51,751)

At 31 March 2009 2 (157,229) (157,227)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium account

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share premium account of
the Company are distr ibutable to the shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

(ii) Exchange reser ve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policies set out in note 3(c) to the financial statements.

28. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Acquisition of a subsidiary – AnyMusic

On 4 September 2007, Rojam Enter tainment Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group entered into
a conditional Sale and Purchase Agreement with a shareholder of the Company, Faith, Inc. to acquire the
entire issued capital of AnyMusic for a cash consideration of JPY700,000,000 equivalent to HK$47,916,000.
AnyMusic was engaged in the development and licensing of software and technology for use in connection
with the provision of value- added telecommunication services in the PRC during the year. This transaction
constitutes a connected transaction for the Company under the GEM Listing Rules and the details are
included in the circular of the Company dated 27 September 2007. The transaction was completed on 31
October 2007.
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The net assets acquired in the transaction and the goodwill arising are as follows:

Carrying
amount Fair value
HK$’000 HK$’000

Proper ty, plant and equipment 534 534
Other intangible assets 562 17,468
Trade receivables 6,300 6,300
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 7,517 7,517
Bank and cash balances 7,242 7,242
Trade and other payables (552) (552)
Deferred tax liabilities (799) (799)#

37,710
Goodwill 16,485
Less: Recognition of deferred tax liabilities on business

combination (1,200)#

Satisfied by:
Cash 52,995*

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:

Cash consideration paid (52,995)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired 7,242

(45,753)

* Including professional fees of HK$5,079,000 directly attributable to the business combination.

# Total deferred tax liabilities arising from the acquisition of AnyMusic amounted to HK$1,999,000 (note

25).

AnyMusic Limited contributed approximately HK$1,667,000 to the Group’s turnover and approximately

profit of HK$274,000 to the Group’s loss before tax, for the period between the date of acquisition and 31

March 2008.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 April 2007, total Group turnover for the year ended 31 March

2008 would have been HK$8,868,000, and loss for the year ended 31 March 2008 would have been

HK$62,853,000. The proforma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication

of the turnover and results of operations of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the

acquisition been completed on 1 April 2007, nor is intended to be a projection of future results.
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29. LEASE COMMITMENTS

At 31 March 2009 the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are

payable as follows:

Group
2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 448 2,489
In the second to fifth years inclusive – 7,605
After five years – –

448 10,094

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for cer tain of its offices. Leases are

negotiated for an average term of 2 years and rentals are fixed over the lease terms and do not include

contingent rentals.

On 18 July 2008, Shanghai Rojam, a subsidiary of the Company entered into an agreement with the landlord

to terminate the lease for the premises at which the Group operated in Suzhou, PRC. At 31 March 2008, the

total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of these premises

amounts to HK$9,176,000.

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s substantial shareholders (as defined in GEM Listing Rules) are Yoshimoto Fandango Co., Ltd.

(“Fandango”, a company incorporated in Japan) and Faith, Inc. (“Faith”, a company incorporated in Japan and

whose shares are listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange Section 1).

Fandango is a wholly owned subsidiary of Yoshimoto Kogyo Co., Ltd. (“Yoshimoto”, a company incorporated

in Japan whose shares are listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange Section 1 and the Osaka Securities Exchange

Section 1).

(a) Save as disclosed in other notes to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has carried out

the following material transactions with related par ties during the year :

2009 2008
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

A shareholder :
Yoshimoto

– reimbursement of operating expense (i) – (156)

A shareholder :
Fandango

– reimbursement of operating expense (i) – (30)
– loan interest income received (ii) – 732

A shareholder :
Faith, Inc.

– reimbursement of operating expense (i) (1,470) (945)
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(i) Reimbursement of operating expenses is recharged on an actual basis.

(ii) The loan interest represent interest charged on inter-company receivable assigned to

Fandango on 30 January 2007. The balance is unsecured and repaid on 31 May 2007. Except

for a balance of HK$81,385,000 which bears interest at 5.38% per annum, the amount due is

interest-free.

In the opinion of the Directors of the Company, the above related par ty transactions were carried out in the

ordinary and usual course of business and on terms mutually agreed between the Group and the respective

related par ties.

31. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Cer tain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. The

changes included the reclassification of cer tain profit and loss items from continuing operations to

discontinued operations.

32. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 16 June 2009.
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3. UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FIRST QUARTERLY FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

Set out below is the unaudited first quar terly results of the Group for the three months ended
30 June 2009 as extracted from the first quar terly repor t of the Company for the three months
ended 30 June 2009. There were no extraordinary items or exceptional items and no minority
interests for the three months ended 30 June 2009.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Unaudited
Three months ended

30 June
2009 2008

Note HK$’000 HK$’000
(restated)

Turnover 2 781 925
Cost of sales and service rendered (350) (303)

Gross profit 431 622
Other income 133 196
Operating expenses (3,153) (2,760)

Loss before tax (2,589) (1,942)
Income tax expenses 3 – –

Loss for the period from
continuing operations (2,589) (1,942)

Loss for the period from discontinued
operations – (2,433)

LOSS FOR THE PERIOD (2,589) (4,375)
Other comprehensive income for

the period:
Exchange differences on translating

foreign operations 3 707

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE PERIOD (2,586) (3,668)

Loss attributable to equity holders (2,589) (4,375)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to
equity holders (2,586) (3,668)

Basic loss per share (expressed in
HK cent) 4

Loss from continuing and discontinued
operations (0.13) (0.23)

Loss from continuing operations (0.13) (0.10)
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Notes:

1. GENERAL INFORMATION, BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 29 February 2000. The
address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares were listed on GEM on 31 May 2001. The Group is principally engaged
in the development and licensing of software and technology for use in connection with the provision of
value-added telecommunication services in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) during the three
months ended 30 June 2009.

The unaudited consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Repor ting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Cer tified Public Accountants, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the GEM Listing Rules
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The accounting policies and methods of computation used in the preparation of the unaudited consolidated
accounts are consistent with those used in the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009.
These unaudited consolidated results should be read in conjunction with the Company’s 2008/2009 annual
repor t. The unaudited consolidated accounts have not been audited by the Company’s auditors, but have
been reviewed by the Company’s audit committee.

In the current year, the Group has adopted the new and revised HKFRSs that are relevant to its operations
and effective for its accounting year beginning on 1 April 2009. The adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs
did not result in substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies and amounts repor ted for the current
and prior periods.

2. TURNOVER AND REVENUE

The amounts of each significant category of revenue recognised during the three months ended 30 June 2009
are as follows:

Unaudited
Three months ended

30 June
2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover
Continuing operations

Licensing of software income 781 925
Discontinued operations

Discotheque income – 8

781 933

3. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Company and its subsidiaries in Hong Kong
have no assessable profits for the period (2008: Nil).

No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) has been made for the period as the subsidiaries in the
PRC have no assessable profits for the period (2008: Nil).

The new PRC enterprise income tax law passed by the Tenth National People’s Congress on 16 March 2007
introduces various changes which include the unification of the EIT rate for domestic and foreign enterprises.
On 6 December 2007, the State Council of the PRC issued implementation regulation of the new tax law to
change EIT rate from 33% to 25%. The new tax law was effective from 1 January 2008.
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4. LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to the equity holders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period.

Unaudited
Three months ended

30 June
2009 2008

Continuing operations
Loss attributable to the equity holders of the Company

(HK$’000) (2,589) (1,942)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 1,926,114 1,926,114

Basic loss per share (HK cent per share) (Note) (0.13) (0.10)

Discontinued operations
Loss attributable to the equity holders of the Company

(HK$’000) – (2,433)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 1,926,114 1,926,114

Basic loss per share (HK cent per share) (Note) – (0.13)

Total
Loss attributable to the equity holders of the Company

(HK$’000) (2,589) (4,375)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 1,926,114 1,926,114

Basic loss per share (HK cent per share) (Note) (0.13) (0.23)

Note: No diluted loss per share has been presented as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares

during the periods ended 30 June 2009 and 2008.

5. RESERVES

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
Share

premium
Exchange

Reserve
Accumulated

losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 April 2008 2 3,669 (117,279) (113,608)
Total comprehensive loss for the period – 707 (4,375) (3,668)

Balance at 30 June 2008 2 4,376 (121,654) (117,276)

Balance at 1 April 2009 2 4,782 (165,101) (160,317)
Total comprehensive loss for the period – 3 (2,589) (2,586)

Balance at 30 June 2009 2 4,785 (167,690) (162,903)

6. INTERIM DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of an interim dividend for the three months ended 30 June

2009 (2008: Nil).
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4. MATERIAL CHANGES

As disclosed in the first quar terly repor t of the Company for the three months ended 30 June

2009 dated 14 August 2009, the operating and financial performance of the Group has been

adversely affected by the downturn of the global economy and the deterioration of the operating

environment. Turnover decreased by approximately 16% to approximately HK$781,000 for the three

months ended 30 June 2009 from that of approximately HK$925,000 for the three months ended 30

June 2008. Loss attributable to the equity holders of the Company for the three months ended 30

June 2009 was approximately HK$2,589,000. At 30 June 2009, the Group had a cash balance of

approximately HK$19 million, representing a decrease of approximately 14% from that of

approximately HK$22 million as at 31 March 2009. Such decrease was mainly attributable to the cash

used in the operating activities of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, the Directors are not aware of any

material changes in the financial or trading position or outlook of the Group subsequent to 31 March

2009, being the date to which the latest published audited consolidated financial statements of the

Group were made up.

5. INDEBTEDNESS STATEMENT

As at the close of business on 31 July 2009, being the latest practicable date for the purpose

of ascer taining the indebtedness of the Group prior to the printing of this document, the Group did

not have any outstanding borrowings.

Apar t from intra-group liabilities and normal trade payables in the ordinary course of the

business, as at the close of business on 31 July 2009, the Group did not have any outstanding

mor tgages, charges, debentures or other loan capital, bank overdrafts or loans, other similar

indebtedness, finance lease or hire purchase commitments, liabilities under acceptance or acceptance

credits, guarantees or other material contingent liabilities.

In addition, there was not any material change in respect of the indebtedness and contingent

liabilities of the Group between 31 July 2009 and the Latest Practicable Date.
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1. RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors jointly and severally accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the

information (other than information relating to the Offeror, its ultimate beneficial owners and par ties

acting in concer t with any of them and the terms of the Offer) contained in this document and

confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge, opinions

expressed in this document have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and there are

no other facts not contained in this document, the omission of which would make any statement in

this document misleading.

The information contained in this document relating to the Offeror, its ultimate beneficial

owners and par ties acting in concer t with any of them and the terms of the Offer, has been extracted

or derived from the Offer Document. The Directors accept full responsibility for the correctness and

fairness of the reproduction or presentation of such information but accept no fur ther responsibility

in respect of such information.

2. SHARE CAPITAL

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company had an authorised share capital of

HK$500,000,000 divided into 5,000,000,000 Shares. As at the Latest Practicable Date, there was no

outstanding options, derivatives, warrants or any securities which are conver tible or exchangeable

into Shares. The authorised and issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date

were as follows:

Authorised
Shares: HK$

5,000,000,000 Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date 500,000,000

Issued and fully
paid Shares:

1,926,114,403 Shares as at 31 March 2009 192,611,440.30

1,926,114,403 Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date 192,611,440.30

All Shares in issue rank pari passu in all respects with each other including rights to dividends,

voting and return of capital. The Company has not issued any other Shares since 31 March 2009, the

date to which the latest audited financial statements of the Company were made up.
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3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS BY DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF

THE COMPANY

Name
Capacity in which the
Shares are interested

Number of
Shares

(long position)

Approximate
percentage

of the
Company’s

total issued
share capital

Mr. Takeyasu Hashizume Beneficial owner 6,658,000 0.35%

Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors and the chief

executives of the Company and their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had

any interests or shor t positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and

its associated corporations (within the meaning of Par t XV of the SFO) which are required to be

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Divisions 7 and 8 of Par t XV of the

SFO (including interests and shor t positions in which they are taken or deemed to have under such

provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in

the register referred to therein or which were required pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM

Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange or which were required to be

disclosed under the Takeovers Code.

4. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS BY SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, so far as is known to the Directors and the chief executives

of the Company, the following persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company)

had an interest or shor t position in the Shares and underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the

Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Par t XV of the SFO, or who are, directly or

indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights

to vote in all circumstances at a general meeting of any other member of the Group.
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Name of
Shareholders

Nature of
interest

Number of
Shares

interested or
deemed to be

interested
(long position)

Approximate
percentage of

the Company’s
total issued

share capital

The Offeror (Note 1) Beneficial owner 1,232,490,000 63.99%

Integrated Asset
Management
(Asia) Limited
(Notes 1 and 2)

Interest of a
controlled
corporation

1,232,490,000 63.99%

Shanghai Assets
(BVI) Limited
(Notes 1 and 3)

Interest of a
controlled
corporation

1,232,490,000 63.99%

Mr. Yam (Note 2) Interest of a
controlled
corporation

1,232,490,000 63.99%

Mr. Ting (Note 3) Interest of a
controlled
corporation

1,232,490,000 63.99%

Yoshimoto Beneficial owner 96,306,167 5.00%

Yoshimoto Kogyo
Co., Ltd. (Note 4)

Interest of a controlled
corporation

96,306,167 5.00%

Faith Beneficial owner 96,300,000 5.00%

Notes:

1. Marvel Bonus Holdings Limited (“Marvel Bonus”), the Offeror, is owned as to 50% each by Integrated Asset

Management (Asia) Limited (“Integrated Asset”) and Shanghai Assets (BVI) Limited (“Shanghai

Assets”). Integrated Asset and Shanghai Assets were therefore deemed to be interested in 1,232,490,000

Shares held by Marvel Bonus.

2. Integrated Asset is in turn wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Yam. Mr. Yam was therefore deemed to be

interested in the 1,232,490,000 Shares held by Marvel Bonus.

3. Shanghai Assets is in turn wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Ting. Mr. Ting was therefore deemed to be

interested in the 1,232,490,000 Shares held by Marvel Bonus.

4. Yoshimoto is a wholly owned subsidiary of Yoshimoto Kogyo Co., Ltd. Accordingly, Yoshimoto Kogyo Co., Ltd.

was interested in 96,306,167 shares in the Company by attribution.
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Save as disclosed above, the Directors and the chief executives of the Company are not aware

that there is any person (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) who, as at the

Latest Practicable Date, had an interest or shor t position in the Shares and underlying Shares which

would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Par t XV of

the SFO, or who is, directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class

of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at a general meeting of any other member

of the Group.

5. INTERESTS IN THE OFFEROR

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Company nor any of its Directors have any

interest in the shares of the Offeror or any conver tible securities, warrants, options or derivatives in

respect of any shares of the Offeror, and none of them (including the Company) had dealt in the

shares or any relevant securities (as defined in Note 4 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code) of the

Offeror during the Relevant Period.

6. SHAREHOLDINGS AND DEALINGS IN SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The dealings in Shares by the Directors during the Relevant Period are as follows:

Party

Effective date
of appointment
as a Director Sale/Purchase

Number of
Shares Date of dealing

Price of
dealing

(per Share)
(HK$)

Luk Hong Man, Hammond
(an executive Director)

1 September 2009 Purchase 300,000 13 August 2009 0.13
Sale 300,000 18 August 2009 0.121

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors have dealt for value in any Shares or any

conver tible securities, warrants, options or derivatives issued by the Company during the Relevant

Period.

As at the Latest Practicable Date,

(a) no Shares or any conver tible securities, warrants, options or derivatives issued by the

Company were owned or controlled by a subsidiary of the Company or by a pension

fund (if any) of any member of the Group or by an adviser to the Company as specified

in class (2) of the definition of “associate” under the Takeovers Code or by the

Independent Financial Adviser or any of its associates (as defined in the Takeovers

Code), and no such person had dealt in the Shares or any conver tible securities,

warrants, options or derivatives issued by the Company during the Relevant Period;

(b) no Shares or any conver tible securities, warrants, options or derivatives issued by the

Company were managed on a discretionary basis by fund managers connected with the

Company, and no such person had dealt in the Share or any conver tible securities,

warrants, options or derivatives issued by the Company during the Relevant Period;
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(c) no Shares or any conver tible securities, warrants, options or derivatives issued by the
Company were owned or controlled by a person who has an arrangement of the kind
referred to in Note 8 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code with the Company or any
person who is an associate of the Company by vir tue of classes (1), (2), (3) and (4) of
the definition of “associate” under the Takeovers Code, and no such person had dealt in
the Shares or any conver tible securities, warrants, options or derivatives issued by the
Company during the Relevant Period;

(d) none of the Directors have indicated their intention to accept or reject the Offer ; and

(e) none of the Company or any of its Directors has borrowed or lent any Shares or any
conver tible securities, warrants, options or derivatives issued by the Company during
the Relevant Period.

7. MISCELLANEOUS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, other than that the Offeror nominated two new executive
Directors, being Mr. Chan Chi Ming, Alvin and Mr. Luk Hong Man, Hammond, and one new
independent non-executive Director, being Mr. Zhang Xi to the Board with effect from 1 September
2009, after despatch of the Offer Document,

(a) no benefit (other than statutory compensation) had been given to any Director as
compensation for loss of office or otherwise in connection with the Offer ;

(b) no material contracts had been entered into by the Offeror in which any Director has
a material personal interest;

(c) there was no agreement or arrangement between any Director and any other person
which is conditional on or dependent upon the outcome of the Offer or otherwise
connected with the Offer ; and

(d) neither the Company nor any person who is an associate of the Company by vir tue of
classes (1), (2), (3) or (4) of the definition of “associate” under the Takeovers Code had
any arrangement with any other person of the kind referred to in the third paragraph of
Note 8 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code.

The English language text of this document shall prevail over the Chinese language text.

8. DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Hidenori Nakai entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of three
years commencing on 10 April 2008 pursuant to which Mr. Nakai is not entitled to receive any
emolument.

Mr. Wang Kefei entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 13 December 2007 pursuant to which Mr. Wang is entitled to receive an emolument
of approximately HK$1,458,000 per annum.
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Mr. Hiroshige Tonomura entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of
three years commencing on 20 September 2007 pursuant to which Mr. Tonomura is not entitled to
receive any emolument.

Each of the service agreements of Mr. Hidenori Nakai, Mr. Wang Kefei and Mr. Hiroshige
Tonomura is subject to termination by either par ty at any time by giving the other not less than three
months’ written notice.

Each of Mr. Chan Chi Ming, Alvin and Mr. Luk Hong Man, Hammond entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of one year commencing on 1 September 2009 pursuant to
which each of them is entitled to receive an emolument of HK$520,000 per annum and a
discretionary management bonus. The Board shall determine, in its absolute discretion, the amount
of the discretionary management bonus payable to each of Mr. Chan and Mr. Luk.

Each of the service agreements of Mr. Chan Chi Ming, Alvin and Mr. Luk Hong Man, Hammond
is subject to termination by either par ty at any time by giving the other not less than one month’s
written notice.

Mr. Zhang Xi signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one year
commencing on 1 September 2009 pursuant to which Mr. Zhang is entitled to receive an emolument
of HK$8,000 per month and such additional fees or other remuneration as agreed between the
Company and Mr. Zhang in respect of any special services to be rendered by him as may from time
to time be agreed. Such additional fees or remuneration shall be payable to him in such manner and
at such time as may be agreed between Mr. Zhang and the Company from time to time. The letter of
appointment is subject to termination by either par ty at any time by giving the other not less than
one month’s written notice.

Pursuant to the service agreements of Mr. Chan Chi Ming, Alvin and Mr. Luk Hong Man,
Hammond with the Company, no maximum amount has been set on the discretionary bonus which
the Company may pay to them; and pursuant to the letter of appointment of Mr. Zhang Xi, no
maximum amount has been set on the additional fees or other remuneration which the Company
may pay to him for any special services to be rendered by him as may from time to time be agreed.
However, according to the terms of reference of the remuneration committee of the Board, the
remuneration committee has the duties to: (i) determine the specific remuneration packages of all
executive Directors, and make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of non-executive
Directors, after having considered factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the group
and desirability of performance-based remuneration, and (ii) review and approve performance-based
remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to
time.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, save as disclosed above, none of the Directors had any
existing or proposed service contracts with any member of the Group or any associated company of
the Group:

(a) which (including both continuous and fixed term contracts) have been entered into or
amended within 6 months before the commencement of the Offer Period;

(b) which are continuous contracts with a notice period of 12 months or more; or

(c) which are fixed term contracts with more than 12 months to run irrespective of the
notice period.
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9. EXPERT AND CONSENT

The following is the qualification of the exper t who has given opinions in this document:

Name Qualification

First Shanghai Capital Limited a licensed corporation to carry out type 6 (advising on
corporate finance) regulated activity under the SFO

First Shanghai Capital Limited has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the issue
of this document with the inclusion herein of its letter and/or references to its name in the form and
context in which they are respectively included.

10. LITIGATION

As at the Latest Practicable Date, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries was engaged
in any litigation, arbitration or claim of material impor tance and no litigation, arbitration or claim of
material impor tance was pending or threatened against either the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

11. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed below, the Group had not entered into any material contracts (not being
contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business) within 2 years prior to the date of
commencement of the Offer Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date:

(a) a conditional sale and purchase agreement dated 4 September 2007 entered into
between Rojam Enter tainment Limited (“REL”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Faith pursuant to which Faith agreed to sell and REL agreed to purchase
all equity interest of AnyMusic Limited at JPY700,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$47,040,000);

(b) an agreement dated 18 Januar y 2008 entered into between Shanghai Rojam
Enter tainment Company Limited (“Shanghai Rojam”), a subsidiary of the Company in
which the Company has an indirect 90% equity interest, and Shanghai Lixin Proper ty
Co., Ltd. in respect of the termination of the lease for the premises of the Rojam Disco
in Shanghai with effect from 31 January 2008, pursuant to which Shanghai Rojam
forfeited its initial deposit of RMB485,660 (equivalent to approximately HK$523,541)
and was required to pay the outstanding rent and utilities and management fees up to
that date, a penalty for early termination of the lease of RMB317,992 (equivalent to
approximately HK$342,795), and the costs of restoration of the premises to its original
condition amounting to RMB365,412 (equivalent to approximately HK$393,914);

(c) an agreement dated 18 July 2008 entered into between Shanghai Rojam and Suzhou
Shengfeng Proper ty Development Co., Ltd. (the “Landlord”) to terminate the lease
agreement dated 1 November 2006 entered into between Shanghai Rojam and the
Landlord in respect of the lease for the premises at which the Group operated a disco
with effect from 28 July 2008, pursuant to which, Shanghai Rojam forfeited its initial
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deposit of RMB233,867.20 (equivalent to approximately HK$245,537.17) and was
required to pay a penalty for ear ly termination of the lease of RMB858,760.38
(equivalent to approximately HK$901,612.52) and the fixed assets and the inventory of
the disco were transferred to the Landlord upon the termination at no consideration
for the Landlord agreed to waive the obligation of Shanghai Rojam under the lease
agreement to reinstate the premises to their original condition;

(d) an agreement dated 27 April 2009 entered into between Rojam Investment Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and Shanghai Huanyu Impor t and Expor t
Company Limited in relation to the dissolution of Shanghai Rojam and the early
termination of the co-operative joint venture contract and ar ticles of association of
Shanghai Rojam; and

(e) a deed of indemnity dated 21 August 2009 (the “Deed of Indemnity”) among the
Vendors, the Offeror, the Company, REL and Rojam Investment Limited (together with
REL, the “Subsidiaries”) pursuant to which each of the Vendors under takes to indemnify
the Offeror, the Company and the Subsidiaries against cer tain tax liability of the
Company or any of the Subsidiaries in the following manner.

As required by the Agreement, the Vendors and the Offeror were required to execute,
and the Vendors were also required to procure the Company and the Subsidiaries to
execute, the Deed of Indemnity. Pursuant to Deed of Indemnity, each of the Vendors
has under taken to indemnify the Offeror, the Company and the Subsidiaries against:

(i) any tax liability of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries resulting from or by
reference to any income, profits or gains earned accrued or received on or
before the date of Completion or any event on or before the date of
Completion whether alone or in conjunction with other circumstances and
whether or not such tax is chargeable against or attributable to any other
person; and

(ii) any tax liability of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries that arises after
Completion as a result of an act, omission or transaction by a person other than
the Company or any of the Subsidiaries and which liability to tax falls upon the
Company or the relevant Subsidiary as a result of its having been in the same
group for tax purposes as that person at any time before Completion; and

(iii) any tax liability of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries that would not have
been payable had there been no breach of any tax warranties made by the
Vendors and contained in the Agreement and which is not the subject of the
covenants in paragraphs (i) and (ii) above; and

(iv) all costs and expenses which are incurred by the Offeror or the Company or any
of the Subsidiaries in connection with any of the matters referred to in the above
or in taking or defending any action under the Deed of Indemnity (including,
without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, all legal and other
professional fees and disbursements).
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The indemnities given by Vendors in the Deed of Indemnity do not apply to any liability:

(I) to the extent that provision or reserve in respect thereof has been made in the
latest audited financial statements of the Company and the Subsidiaries (the
“Accounts”) or to the extent that payment or discharge of such liability has been
taken into account therein; and

(II) in respect of which provision or reserve has been made in the Accounts which is
insufficient only by reason of any increase in rates of tax made after the date of
the Deed of Indemnity with retrospective effect.

The maximum aggregate liability of the Vendors under the Deed of Indemnity will not
exceed an amount equivalent to the total consideration for the Sale Shares less the
total cash of the Group as at Completion. The liability of the Vendors under the Deed
of Indemnity shall be joint and several and shall cease after the date falling on the first
anniversary of the Deed of Indemnity except in respect of matters which have been the
subject of a written claim made within the said period by the Offeror, the Company
and/or any of the Subsidiaries to the Vendors unless the claim in question has arisen by
reason of fraud, wilful concealment or dishonesty on the par t of the Vendors.

12. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection (i) during normal business
hours from 9:30 a.m. to 6:30 p.m. (other than Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays) at the head
office and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit 501, 5th Floor, Lucky
Building, 39 Wellington Street, Central, Hong Kong; (ii) on the website of the Securities and Futures
Commission at www.sfc.hk; and (iii) the Company’s website at www.rojam.com during the period
from 15 September 2009 onwards for so long as the Offer remains open for acceptance:-

(a) the memorandum and ar ticles of association of the Company;

(b) the annual repor t of the Company for the two years ended 31 March 2009 and the first
quar terly repor t of the Company for the three months ended 30 June 2009;

(c) the letter from the Board, the text of which is set out on pages 5 to 9 of this document;

(d) the letter from the Independent Board Committee, the text of which is set out on page
10 of this document;

(e) the letter from the Independent Financial Adviser, the text of which is set out on pages
11 to 27 of this document;

(f) the consent letter from the Independent Financial Adviser referred to in the paragraph
headed “EXPERT AND CONSENT” in this appendix;

(g) the mater ial contracts referred to under the paragraph headed “MATERIAL
CONTRACTS” in this appendix; and

(h) the ser vice contracts of the Directors referred to in the paragraph headed
“DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS” in this appendix.
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